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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

A resilient performance in an unprecedented year

| am pieased to report the financial results for the year ended 31 December 2020 far Drive Topco Limited Group and
iIts operating and trading business. FirstPort Limited and its subsidiares {collectively, “FirstPort” and the “Group”}
FirsiPort 1s a leading provider of LK residential property services and also offers management of residential and
commercial assets for its chent base.

Drnive Topca Limited was incorparated on 11 June 2019 and the Group was formed on 6 September 2019 following
the acquisition of Knight Square Roldings Limited Group. which FirstPortis a part of The financ:al statements on
pages 27 to 74 therefore shows comparalives for the 7 month pericd from incorporation which inciudes trading for
the 4 month period since the acquisiton of Knight Square Holdings timited Group on 6 September 2019

This report will provide commentary on the 2029 year and its comparatives 1o the 12 months perfarmance of the
FirstPort bustnesses n 2019 to aliow for meaningful analysis and to demonstrate the strength of the business as the
2019 Group resuits are not a full year comparative in these financial statements

FirstPort

As the world grappled with the ungrecedented impact of a globat pandemic, | am pleased to repart that FiestPort has
been stable and resdient throughout 2020 with an unwavenng focus on the wellbeing of customers, employees. and
supply cham

FirstPort is a significant provider of residential propery managemond services in the UK and has further cemented its
position as the fargest private residental property manager in what remains a highiy fragmented market With almost
290.000 homes under managemenl. across 5000 developments | ustPort conlinues o play a key role in dnving
hgher standards across the sector and championing a custamer-first approach FrstPort's customer service
performance and brand reputation also continued ta improve in 2020

coviD-1¢

FirstPort responded weli to the challenges presentad by COVID-19  Services continued o be delivered for
residential custoemers and clients with adapted operational strategies to respond to changing Government guidance
Field ang office-based employees adapted well to remate working and productivity remained hsgh  Most site-based
employees remamed in place at developments to provide essential suppert for their residents in a socially distanced
and safe way This has been espectaily important for FirstPort's more vulnerable residents. particularly the
relirgment households it supports across 1,500 mdependent retrement communibes  While some revenue streams
have inevitably been delayed or impacted such as our resales servies. the business has responded prudently 10
ensure continued high servica for customers and ciients alongside a stable financral performance dunng s
unprecedented period

Market change

Changing Government guidance on bullding and fire safety has continued to present challenges for the whale
residental property management sector FirstPort has responded well with the formaton of a dedicated building
safety team to manage applications 1o relevant Government funding streams inctuding the ceordenation of
invesugatwe and remediation works This team has been constructed to ensufe residential customers are well
supported through these processes

Group outlook

FirstPort has demonstrated its resibence through 2020 and 5 wel! posihioned to successfuliy meet the changing
demands of an evolving industry landscape. The business remains in a strong positon moving out of 2020 having
made two stralegic acquisitons and a record orderbook of new business o mebilise

The Board remains commuied to delivering markel-leading services through excellent custemer senace. the
deployment of a new technology-enabled platform soon. and outstanding empioyee engagement FirstPort is ready
te further build upon its position as a leading residential service pravider

Paul Lester CBE

Chairman

30 April 2021
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Our 2020 strategic development paves the way to achieving our growth potential
Principal activities

FirstPorl 1s one of the UK's largest residential property services business. with over 40 years” expenence and a
large satisfied customer base. Our principal actvity can be segmented to two key areas.

» Qur residential offerings which encompasses procuring and delivering services to residential customers in
communal developments — from blocks of apartments to estates of houses

* Our client-based offering which encompasses the management of residential and commercial assets for our
investor client base Additional services offered in this segment include ground rent codlection consuiting,
surveying, tetings, and resales services

Our purpose

FirstPort's primary objective Is to ensure that residents iving in developments it manageas, are safe and well-served
within the legislative regime  Our 3.800 employees help us achieve our objectives daily, carng for the ptaces our
customers call home They do thetr upmost to ensure that buildings where our residents live and share with their
neighbours, are safe, clean, and comfortable Customers don't have to worry about finding the right suppher,
getting the best deal, working out how to split the bill with their neighbours ar making sure there’s enough maney
in their development's bank account to pay for everything — FirstPort manages all of that so cur customers can get
on with enjoying their homas and communities

For our investor clients. our appreach 1s centered arcund supporling their residents and the assets they own  We
provide regular updates through our reporting teols to ensure investors have accurate ang up to date information to
make the decisions they need VWhether we are managing a customer's home or a clients” asset we seek to
nuriure strong relationstups with all stakeholders to a:d understanding and support their needs

Our operating model

Since the acquisttion of Mainstay In September 2020, FirstPort's business is structured into twa main operating
divisions that are ndependent from each other with their own leadership team. brand. and policias - residential
services, and commercial and asset management.

The residential services division 15 delivered under the FirstPort brand (Business to Consumer) and consists of six
operational areas of focus that each care for their specific residential customer in its own unique way with s own
dedicated team to deliver a high quality service for that segment The operational areas are, Luxury. Large and
Complex. Property Services. Estates, Build To Rent delivery, and Retwerment

The commercial and asset management division 1s delivered under the Mainstay brand (Business to Business).
acts independently and provides confidence to our client base that their assets are in safe hands  Under this
dwision a range of services are provided which mclude commerciat facilities management. residential asset
management and residential market services (ground rent collections. build-to-rent operations. letings and sales)

Both divisions are supported by centralised professional in-house teams that provide their expertise acress a wide
range of areas to ensure that customers and clients recaive the exceptianal service reguired

Market backdrop

FirstPort 1s the largest private residental property manager. with a partfolio of 260,000 homes across 5.000
developments There are an estimated 5.3 milion leasehold homes in England, of which 65% are managed. The
Government has set a target for new builds annually at circa 0 3 million per annum  The target 1s expected to be
achieved in the future with all measures indicating that housing demand in the UK remains hugh thus highlighting
the growth potential of the UK hausing market.
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As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. most of the country spent more time at home in 2020 than ever before
The importance of having a well-managed home environment and the positive benefits of communities have never
been clearer. FirstPort adapted its approach to meet guidelines on safety and welibeing but ensured where
possible that community spint and on-gomg management of common areas cortinued As such, FirstPort is well
postioned to continue to grow, supporting residential customers in both new build and existing communities who
value a professional approach to the managemen! of their hames

Residential Market

While the nationa! response to COVID-18 earjier in 2020 inewitably slowed the new build market due to construction
and sa'es shutdowns. this picked up again during the second half of the year as the country adapted fo the ‘new
rormal” Most new buitd developments take several years to complete and unwing nto active management.
meaning FirstPort's new build orderbook continued to mebilise n 2020 despite delays

The Government's stamp duty holiday also stimulated increased demand and consumer confidence. with the
number of sales agreed in 2020 up 10% compared to 2019. While it remains to be seen whether this demand will
be sustained after the stamp duty haliday ends in June, it seems unhkely that house buytng activity will slump as the
country recovers from the impact of COVID-19

Building and fire safety remains a priority

Sector-wide challenges refating to buiiding and fire safety have continued. with an anticipated 1 27m flats across
the UK impacted by changing Governmant guidance with maay leasehaolders now required to oblain an External
Wall System fire review form ("EWS1') As a result. some impacted leaseholders are struggling ‘o re-mortgage or
sell their homes with an estimated 30.00C house sates hawing alieady fallen through as a result  FirstPort, fike
property managers across the country. sees fust-hand the customer concerns and frustrations as these legacy
safety issues are tackled

As of February 2021, the Government has committed to making a total of £5bn funding available to help impacted
feaseholders in buildings over 18 metres in height o remediate their buildings in line with these standards.
However it 15 yet to be seen if this will be sufficient  For butldings under 18 metres, funding is not avadabie and at
present the Government 1s suggesting the offering of a loan scheme for impacted leaseholders

FirstPart s secter ieading health and safety expertise has underpinned cur response to these challenges. and a
separate bulding safety team has been formed to supporl both customers and clients The business made 173
regisirations to the non-ACM remediation fund on behalf of buiiding cwners and leaseholders While the Fund
confinues to assess registrations dunng 2021, FirstPort's response and approval rate for applications is tracking
above the national average This is a positive step forward for leaseholders, but inevitably due to the size of the
fund and number of bulidings submitted nationally. the outcome remains uncertain  We are working hard to
support all those impacted during this uncertan and chalienging tme. Our prionty is the safety of our residents and
we wiil be daing all we can to help them work through therr funding outcome and any necessary remedsation of their
bullding including angoing engagement with Government ang across the sector to seek helpful and practicable
solutions

in 2020 FustPort's building safety team alse successfully secured over 1.100 new EWS1 forms for more than 440
residential developments in our care. positively impacting over 8 108 homes at these sites and enabling many of
these customers to move or remortgage

Natignal awareness of these challenges has significantly increased in 2020, with media campaigns telling the very
human stories of impacted leaseholders and seeking positive change 1o unlock this situation  The sector's industry
bodies. FirstPort and other leading property managers. are continuing to work together with all parties including
lobbymng Government, to seek prachical sclutions and support for leaseholders

Regulatory Reform

Government momentum {owards possible changes to the leasehold system has continued along with
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consideration of future regulation for managing agents. The driver for these reforms 1s increased support for
consumers, giving leaseholders greater say aver how their developments are run and greater confidence mn the
organisations’ managing their homes

Vvhilg leasehold reform will likely give residents greater responsibility in the future compiex residential buildings
and developments will continue 1o need professional managers with a range of skills and well-trained staff working
to high standards. FirstPort already looks after more than 1,000 resident managed developments. estimated to be
the largest resident managed portfolio in the UK In a recent survey conducted with some of our resident directors.
78% of respondents indicated that their property manager was thew first point of call for support and advice Trust.
qualiy, and service also ranked as most important to respondents when it came to their managing agent,

These findings confirm that FirstPort s well placed to support custemers with the management of their
developments both now and in the future and we have leng welcomed greater resident engagement and
involvement

Mandatory regulation of managing agents also presents an opportunity for FirstPort  Having embraced voluntary
regulation via ARMA-Q accreditation many years ago, we already work {o the hugh standards that the whole sector
1s hkely to be held to in due course We are supportive of this drive towards sector-wide regulation. which will
undoubtedly sat higher standards and give consumers much needed trust and confidence in the services delivered
by professional property managers  Some market consclidation can be expected as a result of these on-geing
reforms, which represents an oppertunity for acquisitive growth and professionalisation

COVID-18 response

FirstPort's response to COVID-19 has proven the business to be both steadfast and adaptable. The business
adapted its appreach rapidly to make sure it could still deliver services to customers and clents in a safe and
compliant way An execulive response group has been in place and meeting frequently since early March 2020 to
manage the business’ response to COVID-18 This group continues to meet weekly 10 ensure any adaptations to
the business’ approach in response to the changing situation and Government advice can be discussed agreed,
and implemented at pace

Despite the challenges presented by COVID-19 FirstPort has remained resilient with stable year-on-year adjusted
EBITDA and cash generation continued organic and acquisitive growth. and on-going improvements to customer
sentiment and brand reputation

Qur site-based staff remained in place throughout the pandemic to provide critical services for residents. making
sure that their development continued to run safely and smeothiy The presence of our on-site teams has been
important. We adapted our management appreaches to make sure we could deliver our services while keeping
both our employees and residents safe Every development is different fram amenities to concierge desks and
parcel rooms, meaning there was nc ‘one size fits all’ approach  Qur operations teams have worked hard to apply
corporate and Government guidance to their developments to ensure that a suitably adapted approach was in place
for every propery in our care.

For our most vulnerable residents in the retirement commumties we manage, our employees went above and
beyond for their customers. We introduced enhanced cleaning regimes, as well as visiter and communal space
restiichions well ahead of the first national iockdown in March 2020 te make sure our residents were protected Qur
retirement development managers have remained on site to support their customers throughaut the pandemic and
have adapted therr routines to make sure social distancing and hygiene measures were In place

We also recognised that isolation and lonefiness was Likely to prove as much of a challenge to the residents as the
physical nsks presented by COVID-18. particularly while communal lounges were shut for safety reasons  Gur
development managers continued to check in on all therr customers regutarly, making calls to residents’
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apartments rather than physically visitng. and we shared weekly wniten updaies with our retirement customers.
along with packs of puzzles and crosswords for those who wanted something to help keep them entertained Our
regular rekrement magazine and videos also provided helpful diet and exercise tips. as well as interesting articles

FirstPort's office and field-based employees also adapted well to their change in working patterns At the start of
the pandemic. the business rapidly mobilised to enable remole working for all these staff, including those working n
our customer contact centres  Productivity remained high and employees demonstrated a continued commitment
to delivering excelient custorner and chent service Employees have been surveyed andg the majority have indicated
a preference towards a flexible working approach post-COVID-19, combining increased home working as well as
some time in the office  As a result, we are continuing to assess our office footprints and envirgnments with our
future working patterns in mind.

Five-star Health and Safety

in 2015, FirstPort was the first organisation within the property management sector to achieve a five-star rating from

the British Safety Council Five years later, we have achieved our fifth consecutive five-star rating in our

Occupational Health and Safety Auditin 2020, as well as recewving the British Safety Council's prestigious Sword of

Honour in 2018, recognising excellence in health and safety management i

When looking after pecple’'s homes. safety is of the utmost imponance These assessments of our heaith and
safety performance have consistently recegrised the embedded culture across our organisation a clear
commitment from semor management an enthusiastic health and safety team and good processes for stakeholder
engagement, comphance maonitoring and building management We take our obhgatians for safoty across office.
cperational, and development sites very senously. along with the risks ta staff travelling between {ocations These
obhgations extend to staff, residents, visitors, contractors, and memhbers of the public  Risks are mitigated by our
strong health and safety culture a safety nsk register, continuous manitoring and reporting of accidents and near
misses

Acquisitive Growth

FirstPort nas continued to grow in 2020, making two strategic acquisitans that further strengthens its position as
sector leader On 15 September 2020. FirstPor acquired 100% of the share capital of the Mainstay Group
|'Mainstay’) and on 2 December 2020, 100% of the share capital of the Chamonix Group { Chamonix™} The
combined acquisitions added approximately 92 00C homes to the Group. and we aim tc ensure that therr residents
benefit from the combined skills that wilf be nuriured together to deliver therr service  Costs associated with the
transacticns can be found in the exceptional spend highlighted i the profit and loss account

In a fragmented market that 1s undergaing regulatory scrutiny for the nght reasons, we fee! that it is important that
the vared skill sets 1n the market are combined where possible Our aim in doihg so. is Lo provide continuity for
those smaller crganisations that may struggle with ongoing regulatory change and increased standards whilst
narnessing their capabilities to provide customers and clients with professional management FirstPort. though the
largast UK property manager, remains a small proportion of the market so the potential to suppor others whilst
retaining customer choice, is attainable

Tech-enabled future of FirstPort

FirstPort has continued to invest in technalogy throughout 2020 wia our comprehensive transformation programme
The first phase is due to complete and roll-put in 2021 with additional functionafity and services being added at later
stages

Qur principles when embarking on this approach was to truly become a connected enterprise add value to all
stakeholders. customers clients. supplers. and employees We seek to differentiate ourselves through the
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platfaren being built by connecting stakeholders seamlessly and in ways and at imes that are convenient ta them
The dala access and improved communication will improve significantly making responding to the challenges our
sector faces easier 10 adapt to  However, we have been clear that this isn't just a tech-enabled approach so
through our design phases we have sought to remeve the administrative burden our service dictates allowing our
colleagues to spend mare time on preactive enyayeinenl with customers and clents to ulimately deliver a market-
leading service tha! they deserve We feel this technology enabled but people first appreach brings a unique and
distinclive blend of caring for homes backed by helpful technology that best responds to modern lifestyles

Our People

We recegnise that cur people play a leading role 0 our service delivery and are central to how our brand 1s
experenced w homes and in seaiely  in 2020. we had the privilege of welcoming new caolleagues from Mainstay
and Chamonrx. taking us to over 3.800 empioyees by the end of the year While our people caver a wide range of
skills and disciplines, they are unided in Lhewr prafessionaksm and dedicabon 1o deing the nght thing for their
customers

Our commutment to our emplioyees has again been recognised by the Top Employers Institute  Following a

ngerous assessment in late 2020. FirstPor has been named one of the UK's 2021 Tep Employers — a prestigious
cenification which we have now achieved for the third consecutive year.  This accreditation, alongside our 4 2 cut
of 5 rating on employee review site Glassdoor. sets FirstPort apart from our competitors as a true industry leader

We operale a robust and active equal cppertunily policy, and pride ourselves on our diverse workforce  Cur
empioyees successfully bring together different competencies. skills and speciahsms educational backgrounds,
ethnicity, religious beliefs. and physical abilities. and we judge performance without prejudice or discrimination  All
coileagues are welcomed and supported in our inclusive culture  Our policy enables and suppors the recruitment
of disabled workers We provide assistance needed with inttial training and we adapt the workplace as
approprate

As a business. we consult and discuss with employees. both indwvidually and collectively, abaut any matters hkely
toimpact ther interesls  We value oper communication. with important information and updates shared with
employees through regular news bullelins. as well as monthly CEO and executive updates 1o ensure all cur
employees are aware of any factors affecting our business.

We understand the importance of wellbeing, and that this has been more irmportant than ever in such an
unprecedented year. Our empioyees mental health and wellbeing are supported through cur Employee
Assistance Programme, as well as colleagues trained as Menlal Health First Aiders  During COVID-19, regutar
communicalions and additienal suppart have been provided to employees across the bhusiness. from shanng
information on availlable mental health resources to kps for home-schooling parents

We place greal imporance on making sure our employees are baned and devefop their potential Cur
management process helps to reguiarly wentify any addrional training tnat may te reqwred to help employees
pursue and remain competent for their roles  Qur e-learning platform inciudes traimng modules designed to make
sure we ali, acl in a lawful and compliant way while conducting gay to day duties, this includes data pnvacy, ant-
bribery and anti-maney laundenng modern slavery and health and safely legislation For huigh risk lopics
employees are required 1o complete this training annually. To support employee growth anline training medules
also cover a range of develapment topics. from becoming a great leader through to haw to mentor and coach
others

Our investrment in our people has conlinued despite the challenges presented by 2020, and e-learning has
become even more important than ever with cur leading on-boarding programme adapled for our anline learning
environment Qur weil-established mentor/mentee programme has continued. giving employees new apportunities
to deveiop. learn new skills and progress thewr careers at FirstPorl. We also continued to support cur employees
to pursue relevant professionat qualifications particularly with the Institute of Residential Property Management
(IRPM)
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We welcamed the fifth annual intake of our successful graduate scheme in September 2020, giving seven
graduates the opportunity to become residential properly managers at the end of their 12-month programme Each
graduate is grven an executive mentor, prowding invaluable senior support and guidance as they embark on their
careers. Despite COVID-18. we were proud 1o welcome a simitar size graduate cohort to normal and while the
scheme had to be adapted to facilitate increased home working, the graduates are stilt performing well in therr
placements.

Financial and operational performance

" FirstPort's 2020 results have been pleasing especially in a year that brought unprecedented challenges for the UK
and Globa! economies We have seen a steady and resilient performance with a small improvement financially
year on year based on adjusted EBITDA, but what has made me exceptionally proud. is the manner in which we
managed operationaily. the dedication our teams demonstrated to customers and clients, and the minimal
disruplion created n service through their commitment  We had strict gudelines to follow. our customer base has
been very understanding and in return we buiit strong relationships that helped us emerge more agile. more
energetic and more customer focused than ever before

Qur sectar has seen challenges additional to COVID-19 that impacted normai business operations These
challenges encompass areas such as the new buillding safety regime the slow-down in the housing market in
earlier 2020 and the requirement of an EWS1 farm for leaseholders selting or re-mertgaging their homes
However. our scale and financia!l dynamics helped us invest in areas that needed the additional resource and
fiexibiity in areas that experienced temporary downturns  The lessons learnt from 2020 have been positive for the
business and the agility created in our operations should help us pursue future growth opportunites  Qur balance
sheet remains in a strong position and our iquidity has performed as expected and remamns pesilive for the
foreseeable future We understand we are fortunate to have such posdive dynamics and explain more detail on
our finanzial performance on page 9

Social Responsibility
Ethical standards and principles

Ethics and transparency are integral to how we do business. and the cornerstones of cur corporate principles We
have strong corporate policies and safeguards n place, and a track record of abiding by and promoting high ethical
standards  All our employees are responsible for adhening to our business practices. which foliow both the letter
and the sprrit of the law. as well as our Code of Conduct that reflects the highest standards of corporate and
individual behaviour

Centrepoint

We recognise and take seriausly our responsibility to positively impact the quality of hfe of our emplayees, ther
families and the wider communibes in which we operate  Following an employee vote in 2018 Centrepoint. a
ieading youth homelessness charty, was selected as our corporate chanty partner Since our partnership began in
December 2018 FrstPort has raised more than £91,000 for Centrepoint
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Outiook

The algnment of increased custorner empowerment higher safety and professional standards the prospect of
connecled technelogy. and a culture of caring for peogle’s home environments. creates unique opportunities.
Backed by a financial resilience that withstood the global economic challenges of 2020, means we remain postive
about the prospects ahead

Nigel Howell
Director
30 April 2021
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Group financial perfformance

2020 2019 Change
£'000 E'C00 %
Revenue 66 786 60.814 10%
Adjusted EBITDA 13.484 12.803 5%

Revenue and adjusted EBITOA for the 20719 year has been taken from the 2019 Knight Square Hofdings Limited
Group Financial statements (Continuing aperations only as this relates to FirstPort) o alfow for a 12 month
comparative analysis

The 2020 year has been unlike any other due to the unprecedented COVID-19 globai pandemic  Social and
econamic lockdowns along with restrictions for much of the year have led to uncertamnties far most businesses
across the UK and around the world  The impact of such events has gane beyond financial results, so the focus
was to mamtain stability and support the various stakeholders of our business  During this penod, the Group
benefited from its resitient characienstics. with revenue streams and adjusted EBITDA largely stable compared to
prior year. Some discrelionary cost reéductions have been put i place to help soften the impact of market effected
areas and we did carry out some restructuring lo help us emerge leaner and more agile for the future  The Group
remalned cash generatve in these challenging condiions with a very stable balance sheet and liquidity profie

The change in the economic chmate also enabled management to conduct an in-depth review of the businesses
cost base and s resources to ensure it remains relevant to the requirements of both the current and future UK
envirenment  The result of the review re-shaped the Groups fixed cost base vath fewer paper transactions
occurning. a reduced office footpnnt and a flexible ‘new way of working for s employees These changes have
meant permanent efficiencies are now m place and more benefits will be denved in the following year More
importantly. the agile approach will mean an enhanced levei of service for our customers which will only improve
further when our new systems roll outin 2023

Heaith and safety continue to be the Group's top prionty, and changes to regulation required the Group to invest
significantly in speciiic areas te help manage the increased complexty Such changes include the Building Safety
Fund Waking Watch Fund and External Wall System (EWS1) processes We understand that legistative changes
have caused concern for our customers and clients. and our investment hias been made to help equip the business
reduce such concerns as best as we can

Revenue

Group revenues for 2020 were £66 8m, showing an increase of $0% on prior year (2019 £60.8m) Growth came
from aequisitions with Mainstay trading for three and a haf months and Chamenix for one  In addibion to bullding
on the core base of FirstPort. Mainstay provided new revenue streams in the commercial and asset management
space as well as an expanded client base This provides a great platforr to build on these new products and
exiend our reach across the property market Organic growth was evident in the underlying business when the
imgact of COVID-19 15 removed COVID-19 1impacted areas wera largely the vanable revenue streams that
correlate to marke! conditions. and we expect these to largely return in 2021

The growth can be clearly seen from the units under management. increasing to 280.000 in the year from 196.000
n 2019 Mobiksations performed esgecially well given the closures that took place. and acquisitions added 92,000
units which came online during the last guarter of the year The full year revenue impact of the acquired units will
be seen in 2021 The record order book of 86 000 units as at December 2020 further demonsirates the long-term
health of the busmess, with record organic wins of 17,000 units 1n the year

Adjusted EBITDA

The Group's adjusted EBITDA for 2020 was £13 5m_ representing ar annual increase of 5% from £12.8m in 2019
Acquisitive growth has been the marn contributor justfying additional investment made in tfus area with the
acquisition of Mainstay and Chamonix, which brought 2 broader skili set across the Group n addition to ncreased
adiusted EBITDA.

Adjusted EBITDA exciudes interest expense taxation, depreciation. amortisation. ioss on disposai of assets,
exceptional tems & share based payments
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Exceptional items and loss before taxation

Exceptional items of £2.8m in 2020 are one-cff in nature and mainly relate 1o the integration of acquisittions along
with restructuning costs following a management review of the business After exceptional items. depreciation,
amortisation, and interest charges explained below. the Group incurred a loss before taxation of £13 4m (four-
manth trading period ending 2019. £5 7m)

Interest

The interest charge for year was £11 7m (2019 £3 4m). made up of £6 1m (2019 £1.6m) interest on bank loans
and anather £5 6m (2019 £1 8m) of interest on shareholder loans  The interest charge represents a full year in
compariscn to a four-month trading pencd in 20%9 hence the increase  However. the Group has also increased
borrowing levels during 2620 to support growth  The shareholder loan interest was not payable in 2020 as it
accrues on an annuai basss

Taxation

The tax charge in the year of £0 6m reflects the tax impact of non-tax-deductible expenses of £2 2m and effect of
tax rate changes of £1 2m  The deferred fax Lhability balance of £15 1m mainly represents the deferred tax hability
arisen from the acquisition of Knight Square Holdings Group 1n 2019 and the acguisihons of Mainstay and
Chamomix in 2020
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT - FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Group financial position

intangible assets

As at 31 December 2020, totai intangible assets balance was £163.3m (2018 £119.0m). consisting of £72.0m in
goodwill (2019: £51 2m). £67.5m in customer relationships (2019 £54 8m). £10.3m in brands (2018 £7 5m} and
£13 6min software costs {2019: £5 5m) Software cosis relate to inteliectual property created from the digital
transfarmation program which is due to be rolled out in 2021 The increase 1 goodwill, customer contracts and
brand resulted from the acquisitions Mainstay's customer contracts were valued at £41.6m, brands at £3 2m and
goodwill at £17 2m as at the date of acquisition Chamonix had customer contracts vatued at £7 3m, brands at
£0 5m and goodwiil at £6.5m

Net liabilities position

The Group's net habilities were £19 6m (2019 £5 6m). reflecting the loss afler tax in the year and an increase in
net current habilities shown below

Current assets and liabilities

The net current labihties are £7 9m (2019 £3 7m} dnven by contractuat relationships where fees are collected in
advance. and the ulilsation of the Government VAT deferment scheme  These will unwind targely in the 2021
financial year.

Borrowings and cash

The Group mncreased its loan facilities durning 2020 to a £105 2m (2019 £81.7m) facility with NatWest and
Pemberton The increase in facilites continues to be alkgned within the Group's capacity and servicing
capahilities

As at 31 December 2020 the total debt held was £37 7m {2019 £64 2m) with a cash balance of £7 6m (2019

£4 6m} which resulted in net debt of £90 1m (2019 £59 6m) The Group has one c¢lass of shareholder loan note
in 1ssue at the balance sheet data with a principal of €61 4m (2019 £51 Om) and accrued interest of £7 2m (2019
£1 6mi Shareholder koan notes of £10 4m were issued N the year Issue of ordinary shares resulted in proceeds
of £0.1m in the year

Cash flow and covenants

Cash balances are managed in line with financing and working capital requirements of the Greup's trading
businesses The Group ensures that its suppbers are paid in a tmely manner and are in-line with agreed
contractual terms  The Group enjoyed a good stable liguidity profile in 2020 thus enabling 1t to continue 10 service
its debts and suppliers in a normal manner  Cash generated from its operations for 2020 was £12 2m (2019
outflow £11 5m) which 15 another strong sign of stability 1n an uncertain year for the UK economy

The total cash outfiow for investing activities was £45 8m (2018 £34 tmj representing the consideratron pad an
the acquisitions of Mainstay and Chamonix alang with the continued investment in the Group's digitat
transformation program Cash inflow from financing activities in the Group was £36 7m (2019 £50.5m) reflecting
an increase in borrowings and shareholder loans

As a Group we continue to be diigent in monitorning banking covenants which are forecasted monthly and tested
each quarter We have comfortably exceeded all covenant requirements for the quarters ended, including 31
December 2020
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT - PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

FCR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The Group s principal nisks and uncertainties are set out in the table below together with their patential impact on

our business and the measures we take to manage and miigate them

Risk

Risk Description

Mitigation

Health and safety
{'H&S"

The nsk of breaches of H&S standards
resulting in injuries, environmental damage
or physical damage to property l2ading to
financial penalties reputational damage
and defays 1o site related activities

Dedicated H&S team under the gu:dance of
skitled H&S Director

Rabust H&S culture vwath safety risk register

Contract retention

The risk associated to the dependency on
key chent/customer contracts and the loss
of contracts

Delivery of high-quality customer service
under standardised ‘four pillars’ approach
Maintarming  a  regular  dialogue  with
individual and business customears
Commitment to the principies set out in s
Custcmer Charter

Reputation

The rnsk of damage to brand name or
reputation either through our people, our
behaviors, or third parties acting on cur
behalf

tmprovemeant in customer service and clear
complaints processes reduce the nsk of
1ssues escalating

Monitering and responding to customer
feedback on empioyees and third party
supplier services

Palicies and whistie-blower hotline

Economic nisks and
changes in market

Fattlure to respond  effectively to
developments 1n the broader economy,

Resiient UK based business model
Sgnificant experience and expertise n

dynamics competition and other market or fiscal chosen markets
dynamics, including Brexit and the COVID-| +  Frequent review of competition
19 pandem:c *  Market nsight and intelligence
Financal Failure to maintain appropnate financiall = Experienced finance team
management contrals throughout the business includingl «  Fipancial control environment
the management of debt covenants. creditf +  (igse monitoring of financial performance.
risk fraud nsk and taxation debt covenants and credil nsk by senior
management
* Board oversight of financial performance
Systems The risk associated with the non- delivery] * Investment n appropriate technology and

dependence and
business continuity

and future-proofing of our technology.
including the potent:al impact of business
interruption through systems and facilities

staff

IT governance structure

IT resiience and disaster recovery plans
designed to restore service

Business continuity plan for each business
operationai office

Cyber security accreditation
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT - PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Risk Risk Description Mitigation
Legal and regulatory The risk of failing to comply withf = Employment of quabfied adwvisors both
camphance relevant  laws,  regulations and internally and externally who report regularly
Standards including  AML.  CCOC, to the Board about all significant legisfative
Gender Pay Reporting and Modern changes in the UK
Slavery +» Development of internal policies and
pracedures to ensure adequate capture of
iegal and reguiatory compliance 1ssues
¢ Maintenance of risk register for all current
regulatory issues
» Training programmes for staff
People Risk The risk that we fail to attract and] ¢ HR stralegy encompassing recrutment,

retain gh calibre employees 1n order
to deliver on all aspects of our strategy

reward. retention. talent development and
performance management

Succession planning for middle and senior
management

Regular review ot top
orgamsaton regardless of
executive members

talent 1n the
leve!l by all

Data pratection and
privacy rish

The risk of the loss or mususe of
customer or employee data

Information security policies encompassing
data protection

Investment n appropnate technaiogy and
siaff

General data protection regulation {GDPR)
sleenng committee

Breach register and 1CO registration
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT - GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Board and Board Committees
Governance
Our Group 1s privately owned and as of 31 December 2020 had a board comprising of six directors

Our Chairman. P J Lester, has responsibility for the Board and N Howetl, Chief Executive Officer, executes the
Group's strategy and commercial objectives and impiements the decisions of the Board.

Operation of the Board

Our Board meets at least ten imes each year to review the Group's strategy and performance Execulive
management are regularly invited to attend 8oard meetings, as appropriate  Health and safety performance. along
with key risks and obligations are reviewed and considerad at our Board meetings

Committees of the Board
Audit Committee

Our Group's Audit Commuttee s made up of three nan-executive directers comprised of P J Lester (Char -
independent), T Swales (shareholder representative). and | Boman-Flavell (shareholder representative) The Audit
Commitlee 1s scheduled to meet at least twice a year to review our resuits and internal controls

Qur external auditors are alsc invited to attend the Audit Committee meetings to report their findings

Remuneration Committee

We have a Group Remuneration Committee made up of three non-Executive directors - P J Lester (Chair) T
Swales. and | Borman-Flavell The Committee meets at least twice a year (o review Executivae Director objectives.
pay rises bonuses and discuss pay rates. as required

Internal control and risk management

Our approach to internal control is defivered through senior management oversight via a dedicated internal
governance and compliance team The two responsible Executive Directors hold monthly internal control meetings
with the governance team based on the Board's agreed nsk framewark, mitigating strateg:es. and the latest status
of the nsks Any changes or matters of concern are reported to the full Board As a Group we also maintain and
monitor 2 set of detailed policy documents across all areas of our operations, including health and safety
pracurement, finance, and governance (including competitan and bribery) We use the support of external experts
to conduct ad hoc reviews of specific areas of the business that the Board considers may present significant risk

Independent auditors

Our auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated therr willingness to ¢continue in office and a resolution
for thewr re-appeintmant will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting
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STRATEGIC REPORT - GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Financial risk management

The Group's operations expose us te a vanety of financial risks that include the effects of credit, liquidity, cashflow
and interest rate risk, There are robust controls In place to limit any adverse impact on our Group's performance by
manitering potential financiat risks  Given the business’ size, the Directors have not delegated the responsibility of
maonioring fimancial risk management to a sub-committee of the Board.

Our Group's exposure to interest rate sk was assessed by management and considered low. We have a large base
of UK residential and commercial customears which reduces the corcenlralion of credit nsk. Where we transact with
corporate customers. aur credit control teams fallow strict processes for managing and mitigating the tisk of non-
payment of chasges

The Group has cash management and forecasting processes in place to manage cashffow and liquidity withun our
existing financing

Streamtined Energy and Carbon Reporting

We have been working with the Carbon Trust since 2018, whose mission s {0 heip organisations accelerate the
delivery of a sustainable low carbon economy  The Carbon Trust is helping us review cur carbon footprint and have
granted us ISQ 14001.3 This demonstrates the Group s on-going commyment (o reduce our environmental impact,
with further plans already in place to build on the positive work done in 2020

We measured our total greenhouse gas emissions across the five FirstPort offices. directly and indirectly. to cover a
12-menth period bebtween 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 This ensured compliance with the UK
Government's Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting {SECK| reqime. applicable to all large businesses with a
reporting pencd starting after 1 Apri 2019

FirstPort's energy use and associated GHG emigsions from electneity and fuel across our five UK offices can be
found in the table below along with scope calculations aligned to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Within this protocal.
we have chosen an operational control approach and have used the UK government emussion factors for 2020 for all
Qur BMISSION SOUrces

2020 Energy usage 2020 Emissions
{kwh)} (kgCO2e)
Electneity {scope 2) 858,307 200.108
Naturaif gas (scope 1) 121.033 32,189
Transport fuels - company vehrcles (scope 1) 84 479 20,391
Transpont fuels - grey fleet (scope 3) 1.920.671 475197
2,984,490 728,883
. Emigsion Factor -
Vehicle Type Fuel Type Kg CO2IkWh Energy Use KWh Emissions (kgCG2)
Fleet Cars Desel 001116 1.259 14
Fleet Cars Petrol 000765 83,220 637
Grey Flees Cars® Diesel 001118 960.335 10.717
Grey Fleet Cars® Petrol 000765 960.335 7.347

*Note A 50°50 Petrof Dipsel spit was used

Vehicle emissions were only measured in 2020 and not in 2019
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STRATEGIC REPORT - GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2019 Energy usage

2019 Emissions

{kWh) (kgCO2e)

Electricity (scope 2} 841 296 215.035
Natural gas (scope 1) 242 210 44 530
Transpert fuels - company vehicles (scope 1) 614,734 150 485
Transpart fuels - grey fleet (scope 3) 3.145 530 748.066

4,843,770 1,158,116

2020 carbon emission intensity

Benchmark value
(FTE staff members)
1,069

Intensdy benchmark
Carban emissions intensity per staff member (kgCO2e/FTE)

2019 carbon emission intensity

Benchmark value
(FTE staff members)
812

intensity benchmark
Carbon emissions intensity per staff member (kgCC2e/FTE)}

As in 2018, rafrigeration enssions for 2020 are 0 s0 have been omitted

Emissions intensity
(kgCQ2e/staff FTE)
682

Emissions intensity
{kgCO2elstaff FTE)
1426

We have continued our commitment {o reducing our business’ carbon feotprint. with all measures reducing
from 2018 Specific actions taken in 2020 inctude LED and automated highting in cur office spaces. moving
to a ‘greener’ energy evaluation of renewable energy technologies. reducing building supply capacity and

improving overall awareness on climate change. We strive to further embed our eavironmentat. social. and

corporate responsibilities into cur culture and expect imprevements to extend into 2021
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Statement on the Directars' performance of thelr statutory duties in accordance with $172 (1) Companies
Act 2006 [continued}

The Drrectors of our Group act in accordance with a set of general duties which are detaled in the UK Companies
Act 2006. These include a duty ta promote the success of the Group for the benefit of its membess as a whale and
to consider {amongst olthar matiers)

+  The likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

= Thenlerests of the Group's employees.

*  The need to foster the Group's busmess relationships with suppliers, customers and others.

*  The impact of the Group's operalions on the community and the environment:

*  The desirabilly of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct. and
* The need to act fairly as belween members of the Group

Qur Directors are briefed annually on ther dubes and they can access professional adwice either through the
Group or. an independent provider, as required

The Board has reviewed their current approach te corparate governance and deciston making. engagemeant with
stakeholders and their impact an the envirgnment  How the Board fulfils ds duties under Sections 172 (1) is
summansed as follows.

Decision-making

The Board meets monthly with our serior executive manageinent team to discuss key issues and to make sure that
sirateqic pians are followed Key actions are taken and cormnunicaled to the senior management team reguiarty
along vath the wider business to ensure transparency and to manlain focus on the business’ key strategic goals A
monthly Business Buzz wdeo is distnbuled on the Group’s internal platform where the Chief Executive Officer and
other key Senwor Managers cascade important messages to all employees

The Board undertakes an n-depth review of the Group's strategy annually. based on a 5.year business plan The
approved plan then forms the strategrc ditechion of the busimess with amendments made as and when necessary
during the reviews The plan and strategy form the basis for financial budgels resource plans and :nvestment
decisiens  When making decisians relating to the business plan and future strategy . the Board takes into
consideralion a vanety of malters including the interesl of various stakeholders the consequences of its decisions
In the long-term and its reputation  For more informataon on our strategic developments in 2020 see pages 2- 8

The Board also maintains oversight of our performance and ensures that our management s acting in accordance
with our strategy and plan. They also identfy. evaluale. manage and miigate any risks we face Details of these
are covered on pages 12 and 13

Principal decisions

On 25 March 2020, the UK Government announced a national lockdown in response to the corona virus (COVID-
19) pandemic. The lockdown included a stay-at-home order and the banned non-essential travel The Board
considered the lockdown rules and guidance and determined thal the majority of its workforce can wark remotely
Further funding was made avaidable to the investment in IT equipment to aid better remote working The Board
approved fiexhle woriing for colieagues that could work from home and ensured essenbal travel documentation be
made available for colieagues that were required to travel

The Group has invested in the development of new technologies 1o improve the service delwery across the entire
organisation. The Board considers innovation of better technofagies to be 8 key prianty where « can eahance the
service delivery of our operaticnal teams and streamlne processes to make them more efficent As a result. the
Board approved further investment in its digital programme

Dunng the year opporlunities 10 acquire new businesses into the Graup have been presented to the Board The
Board takes ito consideration their director s duties notably thesr duty to promote the success of the business,
when evaluating acquisition opportunities. Other key cansiderations are factored in such as determiming whether
new opporturiies can pravide compimentary growih to the Group's existing service offerings
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Qur People

Cur employees are central to the iong-term success of the Group and as such the board ensures it has means of
engaging to undersiand their views and interests During the COVID-19 pandemic. to protect our employees and
comply with national law_ the Group made the decision to allow the majority of its workforce to work from home and
provided further investment in remote working fechnologies  Our main offices were assessed by our Health &
Safety team and made available and comphant with social distancing rules for those employees who required
access The Group miends to maintain flexibility with remote working to allow colleagues to choesa how they wish
to work

A section dedicated to Qur Feopie is included in the monthly Board report to ensure the Beard is regutarly updated
on key employee matlers Core lopics in the repert for Board constderat:on include employee relations, absences
and employee turnover, trairing and development. communications. employee profiles, and Glassdeor ratings  For
2020 some key mformation around furlough and COVID-19 absences was aiso included to assess the gverall
impact of the pandemic to employees  This provides the Board with reguiar updales and trends on key people
metrics and gves comfor! that the people strategy 15 being well recewed both internaily and externally

Buring the COVID-19 pandemic. to protect our employees and comply with national faw, the Group made the
decision to allow the majonty of its warkforce to work from home and provided further investmenlt in remote working
technologies Qur main offices were assessed by our Heaith & Safely team and made available and comphant with
social distancing rules for those employees who required access Following employee surveys held in 2020 that
yielded a favourable view towards long term flexible working, the Board decided to reduce office space and
maintain the new way of workings post COVID-19

Development of new technologies continued throughout 2020 and the rolf out of this 10 2021 will have a significant
impactto employees both in terms of advanced operationat systems and new ways of working. Regular
communications from the CEC have taken place in recent years (o keep employees updated with plans and
progress. with Q&A sessions held to enswe lwo-way feedback that can be circulated to the Board An external
campany. Storytellers. was also engaged so that senior managers could help bring to ife the FirstPort way iy an
engaging and inferactive manner for employees These sessions were held for all team members and feedback
given back to the Board via senior leadership meetings  Roll out plans have been determined by employee
feegback on business readiness. and the Board not wanting 10 put undue strain on the workforce

M&A opportunities are generally canfidential by nature, however the Board gains assurance of these decisions from
an emptoyee persgective through a semior due diligence team that are close to lhe operations An assessment on
culture and long term fit of any potential M&A opportunities 1s also carmed out to gain comfort ng major canflicls will
anse Following a detailed due diligence process. a presentation and report is submitted 1o the Board summarising
findings. allowing the Board to make an formed decsion based on what 1s best for both Group and its employees

The Group aims to ensufe everyone 1$ lreated fairly and equitably and there are arrangements in piace {o prevent
discrimination in the workplace. A dedicated HR team is available to support employees and there 1s a dedicated
whistleblowing hotitne if an employee wishes to raise a serious maller this can be dene anonymously  Any maiters
ansing fram any whistleblowing is recorded in our whistleblowing register and reviewed by the Risk & Governance
Committee. a sub-commitiee of the £xecutive Management Boasd

The Group understands the importance of wellbeing especially during this unprecedented year Al of our
employees have access to our Employee Assistance Programme, which 1s managed by an independent third party,
as well as infernai colleagues frained as Menta? Health First Aiders  During COVID-19, regular communicalions
and additicnal suppert have been provided 1o empioyees across the business from sharing information on available
mental health resources to tips for home-schooling parents

Our e-learning platform includes training medules designed ta make sure we alact in a fawful and compliant way
while conducling day lo day dulies, this includes data privacy anti-bribery and anti-money laundering. modern
siavery and health and salety legislation For high risk topics, employees are required to complete this traimng
annualty To suppor empioyee growth onine training modutes also cover a range of developmeant topics. from
becoming a greal leader through to how to mentor and coach others

Please refer to pages 6 and 7 far more information about our empioyees and our peopie maragement approach
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Community and environment ;

We are committed to reducing our carbon footprint and environmental impact and are reviewing our CO2
BmMisS$ions annually in 2020, the Carbort Trust evaluated our carbon footprint and validated the carbon reporting
figures under ISO 14064-3.

As a business we also recognise the importance of contnbuting to wider sociely. During 2020, we continued to
support a national youth homelessness charty, Centrepoint  The charity provides homelass young people with
accommodation, health support and lite skills in order to get them back into education. training and employment

Corporate governance and reputation of high standards of business conduct

in 2020, we worked with exiernal advisors to carry out a gap analysis of our averall corporate governance
strycture. ingiuding environmental and social governance The Wates Corporate Governance Principies (the
Wates Principles™ for large private compames have been used to benchmark the Group's governance structure
The Board will continue to work towards improving its corporate governance practices in line with the Wates
Prncples and drive to meet these slandards.

Qur purpose and our operating model provide the key elements of how the Group martains a reputatien far high
standards of business conduct

Further details are provided on page 7 and page 14

Stakeholder engagement

Our Board ensures that positive stakehokder engagement exists at all levels across the business. and that
decisions put customars first  However, with a wide stakehalder base that ncludes customers. chents. suppliers.
employees. and sogiely more widely, decisicns aiso take all of lhese audiences info account

The Board will sometimes engage directly with key stakeholders on certain issues. but the size and distribution of
our stakeholders and our Group means that stakehalder engagement often takes place at an operational ievel

Senior management hold monthly meetings wih key clients to review our services in their respective portfolios |
This enabies us to hghlight any issues rased by our Clients and take acton transparently  The Board 1s regularly
updated by serior management on the progress of any matters raised in the client engagement maetings.

The Board considers and discusses information from across the organisation to help it undarstand the impact of

the Group's operations and the interests and yviews of key stakehclders It also reviews strateqgy. financial and

operational performance, as well 8s key risks and regulatory compliance This information is provided to the

Board through raports sent in advance of each Board meeting and via presentations |

The Board understands the importance of developing and maintaining good refationship with the Group's supply
chain Due to the nature of the services we offer we have a diverse mix of large national suppliers and iocai
supphiers Whilst engagement with our suppliers mainiy takes place at an operational level through our
centralised procurement team. any developments which could materially impact the organisation are reported
back 1o the Board The Board will aiso review and approve key materal contracts with its supply chain

Customer research 15 conducted with both residential customers and resident management company directors to
ensure the business understands what's important to these stakeholders

The business continues to groactively engage with key stakeholders on the buidding and fire safety challenges
facing leaseholders across the country. nciuding engaging with Government to try and find practical sclutions for
nomeowners, as weli as working with clients. supphers and customers to held remediate buildings  [n the kght of
the unprecedented. challenging circumstances these customers are facing we are pleased to have announced n
early 2021 a no-profit pledge commitling to only recaver our casts on aur work supparting customers whose
buildings are being remediated via the Government s non-ACM cladding repiacement fung
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Engagement in action

Over the year we held
* Internal staff committee meetings and working with third party experts to discuss health and safety and the
ways it can be nuproved across baoth the business and the developmenis in our care  The findings were
presented back to the Board who approved the farmation of a new building safety team to deal with
develapments that fall under the new regulatory requirements

+ Aninformai forum to discuss enviranmental and sustainability initiatives  This led to the setup of an ESG
commiltee made up of employees in relevant departments  Updates fo the Board are provided through the
Board report with approval scught where appropriate

* Regular engagement between our executive members and all employees through recorded and live videos,
an internal scciai media system and a virtual company conference accessible for alt empicyees to view and
provide feedback cn  The Board approved the first viriual conference in 20293 which was well rece:ved and
provided a great feedback loop to capture employee sentiment. especially in such unprecedented times

* A survey with our employees around flexible working patterns and engaged with specific office based staff
that were impacted by our reduced office foot-pnint. to ensure the majonty were supportive of the measures
we undertook along with the future plans of ther working environment  The clear preference from employees
was to mamntain a flexible approach therefore measures to enable this were approved by the Board

*  Menthly meetings with key chients with their progress reported back to the executive management team and
Board cof Directors  The meetings have allowed our service modgel and preposttion to evolve with cur
customer s needs and conlinue to iImprove our service offering In the market

+  Meetings with key suppliers to review service levels te ensure good service delivery performance during the
COVID-18 national lockdown These provided better understanding for suppiiers around our business and
goals. enabhng a mutually beneficial sustainable relationship They also gave supoiers the opportunity to
showcase where else they may be able 1o support us  Key updates were provided in Board meetings

+ Custemer mterviews conducted by a specialist market research agency to shape customer service delvery
and improvemients  The interview helped reshape some of the decision-making processes in our Digital
platform to ensure we cater for customer requirements Digital was a hot Board topic throughout 2021

Shareholders

Cur majority shareholder appointed two Non-executive directars to the Board. who contribute to the strategic
directicn of the Group

{uda Saleh
Director
30 Apnl 2021
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The directors present ther annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020
Principal activities

The principat activily of the Group is the provision of residential property management apd related Services within
the UK, and that of the company is investment management Activities in s trading business. FirstPort. has been
explained in the Strateg:c Repart en page 2

Directors

The directors who held office dunng the year and up 16 the date of signature of the financial statements were as
follows

P J Lester {apponted on 16 January 2020}

N Howell

O Sateh

T A Swales

I G Boman-Flavell {appointed on 13 February 2020)
D K Young {appointed on 26 November 2020)
S Leusch {resigned on 13 February 2020)

Directors’ insurance

The group mantains insurance polices on behalf of all the directors against hability ansing from negligence,
breach of duty and breach of trust in relation 1o the group This 15 a qualifying third party indemnity provision made
far the benefit of s directors during the year These provisions remarn in force at the reporting date

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out in the consolidated profit ang loss account on page 27 No ordinary dividends
were paid The diractors do not recommend payment of a further dividend

Employees

Information on employees 18 included in the Strategic Report on pages 6 and 7 Further information on empioyee
engagement is included in the 5172 (1} statement in the Strategic Report on page 18

Disabled persons

Information on disabled persons 1s inciuded in the Strategic Report on pages 6 and 7

Stakeholder engagement and principal decisions

Information on stakehoider engagerment and princpal decisiens 1S included n the s172 (1) statement in the
Strategic Report on page 17 and pages 19 and 20

Future developments

The future developments of the business are discussed n the Strategic Report on page 8
Financial risk management

Information on financial nsk management s included in the Strategic Report on page 15
Going Concern

information on gowng concern 1s Included i note 1 4 on page 35
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The direclors are responsible for preparing the Annuat Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable iaw and regulation

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
direciors have prepared the group and company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (Umited Kingdom Accounting Standards. comprising FRS 102 "The
Financial Reparting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”. and applicable law)

Under company law_directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group for that
period In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required {o

* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

+ state whether apphcable United Kingdom Accounting Standards. compnsing FRS 102, have been foilowed
subject to any material departures disctosed and explained in the financial statements.

*  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent. and

¢ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t 15 inappropriale to presume that the
group and company will continue in business

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
group’s and company's transactions and disclose with reasgonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Comganies Act 2008

Directors’ confirmations

In the case of each directer in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

* so far as the director 15 aware. there 15 na relevant audit information of which the group's and company’s

auditors are unaware, and

* they have taken all the steps that they ought 1o have taken as a director sn order to make themselves aware
of any reievant audit information and to establish that the group's and company's auditors are aware of that
information

Quda Saleh
Director
30 Apnil 2021
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Qpinion
in our opinion Drive Topco Limited's group financial statements and company financial statements (the "financial
statements”)

. give atrue and far view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and
of the graup's loss and the group’s cash flows for the year then ended:

. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
{United Kingdom Accounting Standards comprising FRS 102 "The Financial Reporing Standard apphcable
in the UK and Republic of Irefand”, and applicable law), and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

We have audited the financial statements. included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the "Annual
Report'). which comprise. consolidated and company baiance sheet as at 31 December 2020. the censohdated
profit and foss account and consolidated statement of comprehensive income. the consolidaled cash flow
statement, and the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended. and the
notes 1o the financial statements. which include a description of the significant accountmg paolicies

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("15As (UK)') and applicable
law Our responsibiliies under ISAs (UK) are further descnbed n the Auditors’ responsibilibes for the audi of the
financial statements sechon of our report We beleve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinien

independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 1o our audit of
the financial statements In the UK. which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard. and we have fulfited our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conciusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’'s and the company's ability to continue to adopt the geing
concern basis of accounting included

+  Auditing the integnty of the underlying formulas and calculations within the gaing concern maodel:
*+  Assessing the appropriateness of the cash fiow forecasts m the context of the Group's 2020 financial
performance and the acquisitions made n the year, and evaluating the separate downside scenario.

* Evaluatng the key assumphans in the forecasts (which were consislent with the forecasts vsed o assess
goadwill)

+  Tesling the forecast revenue and EBITDA figures with reference to the additional amounts contributed by the
acquisitions made assumed efficiencias from the acquisitons ang other projects and assumptions made
relation to price and churn,

*  Comparing the prior year forecasts aganst current year actual performance to assess management’s ability
ta forecast accurately particutarly in the penod before Covid-19 but aiso censidering the performance of the
Group since the first lockdown on 23 March 2020 and

*  QObtaining and reperforming the Group s forecast caovenant comphance calculations. including sensitising the
profits and cash flows as applicable for each covenant to assess the potential impact of our downside
sensitivities on covenant compliance
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED {CONTINUED)

Based on the work we have performed. we have not dentified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditiens that. individually or collectively. may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company's ability to
contnue as a gaing concern for a pericd of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are
authorised for ssue

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate

However. because not all future events or conditions can be predicted. this statemenl is not a guarantee as to the
group’s and company's abiity to continue as a going concern

Our responsibiliies and the respensibiives of the direclors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report

Reporting on other information

The other information compnses all of the information i1 the Annual Repaort other than the financial statements and
our auditors’ report theregn The directors are responsible for the other information Qur opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and. accardingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except 1o
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report. any form of assurance therean

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 1s to read the other mnfermation and. in
doing so. consider whether the other information s materially nconsistent with the financial statements or qur
knowladge obtained in the audi, or otherwise appears to be materally misstated If we dentfy an apparent
matenal inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to canclude whether there
15 a matenal misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information f based
on the work we have performed we conclude ihat there 15 2 matenai misstatement of this other informatian. we
are required to repert that fact We have nothing to report based on these responsibilites

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report. we also considered whether the disclosures required
by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included

Based on the responsibilities descnbed above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit [SAs {LIK)
require us also to report certain opinions and malters as described below

Strategic Report and Direciors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit the information given in the Strategic
Report and Oirectars’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 s consistent with the financial statements and
has been prepared in accordance with appiicable legal requirements

In kght of the knowiedge and understanding of the group and company and ther environment oblained in the
course of the audit. we did not dentify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Reasponsibilities of the directors for the financial statemenfs

As explained mora fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities 1n respect of the financial statements the
directars are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 1n accordance with the applicable
framework and for bemng satsfied that they give a true and fair view The directors are also respensible for such
internal control as they determine s necessary to enable the preparabon of financial statements that are free from
mafenal misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

In prepanng the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company’s
abiity to continue as a going concern. disclesing. as applicable, matters retated to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to hquidate the group or the company or to
cease operatkons. of have no realistic alternative but ta do so.
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Auditors’ responsitnhties for the audit of the financial statements

Our cbjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error and o issue an auditers' report that includes our opinian
Reasonable assurance is a high fevel of assurance. but s not & guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 1SAs {UK) will always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can anse from fraud or
error and are considered material if. individually or in the aggregate, they couid reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities. including fraud are instances of non-comphance with laws and regulatians We design procedures in
line with our responsibililes outined above to detect matenal missiatements in respect of regularities, including
fraud The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting wregufanties. including fraud, 15 defaed below

Based on our understandging of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of nan-compliance with
taws and regulations related to breachas of employment laws. health and safety regulations. data protection, tax
legisiation and the International stock exchange lstng rules . and we considered the sxtent to which non-
cemphance might have a matenal effect on the financial statements We also considered those taws and regulations
that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006 We evaluated
management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial staternents (including the risk
of overtide of controls). and dewermined that the pnincipal nsks were related to the posting of inappropriate journal
entres and management bias in accounting judgments and estmates to enhance EBITDA Audit procedures
performed included

*  Discussions wih management including consideration of known or suspected mnstances of non-comphance
with laws and regulations and fraud.

+ Challenging assumptions made by management in relation to areas of judgment and significant accounting
estimates. inciuding the classification of costs as exceptional, the capitalisation of Intangible assets and the
valuabon of «dentified intangibles anising from the acquisition accounting for the two acquisitions made within
the year

* Testing journal entrnes meeting set risk crteria. in particular any journal entries posted with unexpected
account combinatons resulting In a creddt entry o revenue or cost. journat entres contamning unusual words
and any journals posted by senicr management.

* incorporating elements of unpredictabilty mnto the audit procedures performed. in particular over supplier
bank detaiis. and

»  Revew of board minutes throughout the year and iegal costs incurred to understand if these are indicative of
any wider non-compliance or fraud matters

There are inherent imitations in the audd procedures descrnibed above We are jess likely to become aware of
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions
reflecled n the financial statements Also. the risk of not detecting a material mysstatement due to fraud is higher
than the nsk of not detecting ane resulting from error as fraud may nvolve deliberate conceaiment by for example
forgery or intent:onal misrepresentations. or threugh collusion

A further description of our responsibiities for the audit of the financial statements s located on the FRC's website
at www frc org uk‘fauditorsresponsibilites  This description forms part of our auditors’ report

Use of ttus report

This seport. including the opimons. has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compames Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not. in giving
these opinions accep! or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shawn ¢r into whase hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our priar cansent in writing
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Cornpanies Act 2006 we are required 1o report to you «f in our opinian
* we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire for our audit, or

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company or returns adequate for our audit have
not been recerved from branches not visited by us. or
*  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. or

+ the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting recerds and returns.

We have no exceptions to report ansing from this responsibility

'%ﬁf’{ Vet "’5%“

Diane Walmsley {Senor Statutory Auditor)

for and on behaif of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

30 April 2021
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses - excgptional items

Other operating income

Operating loss

interest payabie and similar expanses

Loss before taxation

Tax on {oss

Lass for the year / period

Note

13

15

Year ended
31 December 2020
£000 £'060
66.786
(2.824)
63,962
(63.543)
(2,784)
(66,327
672
{1.693)
(11.749)
(13,442)
(636)
(14,078}

7 month period ended
31 December 2019
£'000 £'000

18,401

15,401

(19.516)
(2.123)

(21.639)

(2 238)

(3.429)

(5.667)
(72}

{5.739)
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Loss for the financial year / period

Other comprehensive incame

Tatal comprehensive expense for the year / period

Total comprehensive expense for the year / penad altributable to
- Qwners of the garent

Total comprehensive expense for the year / poriod

Year ended

31 December 2020

7 month period ended

31 December 2019

£°000 £'000
(14,078} {5 739)
(14.078) (5739
{14 078} (5.739)
114.078) {5.739)
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Fixed assets
Intangibie assets
Tangible assets

Current assets

Debtors

Investment properties held for resale
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounis falling due within
one year

Net current habibties

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after
more than one year

Provision for liabilities
Net liahilities

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premiym account
Treasury shares
Accumuiated losses

Tota! equity

Note

16
17

20

22

23

5

28
28
28

2020
£000 £'000
163.338
2.781
166,119
8.871
187
7.585
16,643
(24,588}
{7.945})
158 174
(162.106)
{15.673)
{19,608}
1
144
(N
(19,749)
{19 605)

The notes on pages 34 to 74 are an mtegrai pan of these financial statements

2019
£'000 £'000
119 000
3141
122111
5313
187
4.558
10.058
(13 746)
(3.688)
118 423
(113.915)
(10,153
(5.645)
1
g3
{5.738)
{5,645)

The financial statements on pages 27 {0 74 were authorised for issue hy the board of directors and authorised for

i$3ue on 30 April 2021 and are signed on its behalf by

Quda Saleh
Director
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Note
Fixed assets
Investment in subsid:aries 18

Current assets
Debtors 20
Cash at bank and n hand

Creditors; amounts falling due within
ane year 22

Net current agsets

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after
more than one year 23

Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 28
Share prem:um accouit 28
Treasury shares 28
Share based payment reserve 28

Retained earnings

Total equity

The company made a profit of £4k during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019 nii)

2020
£000

318

323

(269)

£'000

162

162

54

216

216

144

8
68
4

216

2019
£000

£'000

94

94

94

94

94

For the year ending 31 December 2020. the company was entitled to exemprion under section 408 of the

Companies Act 2006 from presenting its indmvidual profit and loss account

The notes on pages 34 to 74 are an integral part of these financial statements

The financial statements on pages 27 to 74 were authonsed for issue by the board of directors and authorised for

1ssue an 30 April 2021 and are signed on its behalf by

Quda Saleh
Director

Dnve Topea Limited
Registered no. 12043021
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ORIVE TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Balance at 11 June 2019

Period ended 31 December 2019:
Loss for the perod and total comprehensive expense
for the penod

Total transaction with owners, recorded directly
to equity

Issue of shares

Total contributions by and distributions to owners

Batance at 31 December 2019

Year ended 31 December 2020:
Loss for the year and lotal comprehensive expense
for the year

Total transaction with owners, recarded directly
to equity

Credit relating to equity-settled share-based payments
Issue of shares (27.075 of £0 01 ordinary shares)

Issue of shares to EBT (2.000 of £0 01 ordinary shares}
Acquisition of shares by EBT

Seitlement of shares by EBT members

Total contribubons by and distributions to owners

Balance at 31 December 2020

Called up Share Treasury Accumulated Total
share premium shares losses equity
Note capital

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000

R - {5.739} (5.739)

28 i 83 94
! 93 94

1 g3 - (5.739) (5 645}

(14.078) (14.078)

14 - - 68 68
28 - 48 - - 48
28 - 3 (3) - .
28 - - (4} - 4)
28 6 - 6
- 51 1} 68 118
1 144 n (19.749) {19.605)
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Cafled up Share Treasury Sharg Retained Total
share premium shares Based earnings equity
Note capital Payment
Reserve
£'000 E£'000 E'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Balance at 11 June 2019 - -
Period ended 31 December 2019:
Results for the financal penad - - - -
Tota! transaction with owners, recorded directly to
equity
Issue of shares 28 1 93 - - - 94
Tota! conilnbutions by and distnbyhons 10 owners
1 93 . . 54
Balance at 31 December 2019 1 93 94
Year ended 31 December 2020:
Profit for the year - - - 4 4
Total transaction with owners, recorded directly to
equity
Credit relating to equily-settied share-based payments 28 - . %8 58
Issue of shares (27 075 of £0 01 ardinacy shares) 28 - 48 - - 48
Issue of shares to EBT (2 000 of £0 01 ordnary shares) 28 3 3 - - .
Acguisition of shares by EBT 28 - {4 - (4}
Settlement of shares by EBT members 28 - & - 8
Total contnbutions by and distrnibtons to owners
51 (1) 68 118
Balance at 31 December 2020 1 144 (1 58 4 215
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

AS AT 31 DECENMBER 2020

Cash flows from operating activitias
Cash generated / {used) in cperabons
Tax paid

Nel cash genarated / (used) in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of subsidaries net of cash acquired
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of langible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of shares

Issue of shareholder loans
Interest pad

Drawdown of bank facility

Loan arrangement fegs
Repayments under finance lease

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivaients

Cash and cash eguivalents 3t baginning of the year ! period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year / period

Cash and cash equivalents consists of.
Cash at bank and in hand

Year ended
31 December 2020
Note £'000 £000
36 12.214
(65)
12.149
3 (36 965)
(7.881)
(875)
(45.821)
51
10.395
(5.380)
33.500
(1.8567}
36899
3027
4 558
7 585
7.585

7 month period ended
31 December 2019

£°000 £'000
(11.528)
(282)

{11.910}
(31.262)
(2.38%)
(424)

(34 085
94
51.036
{620)
(57}

50.453

4558

4 558

4558
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.1

1.2

1.3

Accounting policies

General information

Drive Topco Limited ("the Company”}), incorporated on 11 June 2019, and iis subsidiaries {together "the
Group”) provides residential property management and related services, and safety and wellbeing services.
within the United Kingdem The main business operates as FirstPort which is the largest residential property
management business in the UK with a core service offering organmised around six customer/market
segments Luxury, Large and Complex, Properly Services Estates. Build to Rent and Retirement. In addition
to its core offerings. FustPort also provides specialist independent refirement estate agency services,
insurance products, and residential lettings

The company 1s a private company hmited by shares and is incorporated in the United Kingdam and
regrstered in Engfand The address of is registered office 1s Queensway House, 11 Queensway, New
Miftan, Hampshire, UK BH25 5NR

Statement of compliance

The Group and indivdual financial statements of Diive Topeo Limited have been prepared in compliance
with United Kingdom Accounting Standards including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdam and the Republic of ireland” ("FRS 102") and the
Compames Act 2006

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below The accounting policies have been apphed consistently. other than where new policies have
been adopted

Basis of preparation

These consolidated and separate company financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.
under the histoncal ¢ost convention

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certan critical accounting estimates. [t also
requires management to exercise its judgement In the process of applying the Group and Company's
accounting palcies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumplions and estimates are significant to the firanciat statements. are disclosed in note 2
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.4

1.5

Accounting policies (continued)

Going concern

The Group manages its day-to-gay working capital requirements through its bank faciities. The ability of the
Group to service its debt obhgatons is critical to the ongoing trading of the business and we have
considered the key factors that could have an impact on trading and whether an adverse change in these
factors could affect our ability to meet our fiabilites The Group has a considerable number of on-going
management contracts in FirstPort. and accordingly the Group's forecasts and projections, taking account aof
reasonably pessible changes in trading performance show that the Group should be able (o operate within
the level of its current facilities

As part of assessing the ability te tantinue as a going concern. the Group has alse considered the ongoing
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and any related potential economic downturn on its busmess. During this
assessment. managememt conducted vanous scenaric analysis with sufficient depth and duraticn
considering different levels of revenue reduction. working capial impkcations and mitigating actiens
available to management In 2020, the impact of COVID-19 was felt in the Group's ‘ransactional revenue
hnes which 1s reliant on the properly market This involves the Group's lettngs and resales services
Management have created a "severe” downside scenario which modeliad the effect of reductions to revenue
up ta June 2022. The model assumed that all transactional revenuve will be lost and no cost reduction efforts
would be made 1n this “severe” scenario, sufficent fiquidity and headroom on the Group’s covenanis were
demonstrated Even though the COVID-19 pandenic has presented 2 hugh level of uncertainty to all
businesses. FirstPort operates as a resilient business and has the capabiities to continue to operate for the
foreseeable future and for at least the penod of twelve months following the date of approval of these
financial statements The Group generated cash n 2020 and ended the year with £7.585k cash with an
unutiised £7 5m revolving credit facility

Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102

FRS 102 aliows a gqualsfying entty certain disclosure exemplions subject to certain condibons. which have
been complied with. including notification of, and no objection 1o, the use of axemptions by the Company's
shareholders The Company has taken advantage of the following exemptians

1) from preparing a statement of cash flows. on the basis that it is a gualfying entity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows. inciuded in these financial statements includes any cash flows
of the Company,

{tr} from the financial instrument disclosures. required under FRS 102 paragraphs 11 41¢b), 11.4%c).
11 4%(e), 1141(f), 1142 1144, 1145 1147 11.48{a)(in). 17 48{a)w). 11 48{b). 1148(c) 12 26,
12 27, 12 29(a), 12 29(b) and 12 28A, as the information 1s provided in the consoldated financial
statement disclosures

from disclosing the Company key management personnel compensation, as required by FRS 102

o) paragraph 33 7. as the iformation 1s provided in the consolated financial statement disciosures.

The company has iaken advantage of the exemption in section 408 of the Compames Act from

™) presenting its indnidual profit and toss account
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.6

1.7

Accounting policies {continued)

Audit exemption of subsidiaries

Drive Topco Limited has provided a legal guarantee under sd472A-C of the Companies Act 2006 to the beiow
subsidianes for audit exemption.

Company Registration nurmber
Drwve Bidco Limited 12043128
Knight Square Hoidings Limited 07925023
Knight Midco Limited 07927619
Knight Square Limited 07925019
FirstPort Limited 04352398
FirstPort Bespoke Property Services 01623496
FirstPort Insurance Services Limited 03479579
FirstPort Property Services Limiteg 02061041
FirstPort Property Services No 2 Limited 02231168
FirstPort Property Services No 4 Limited 37299764
FirstPort Property Services No 5 Lirnited 05876680
FirstPort Property Services Scotland 03829468
FustPor Retrement Propetty Services Limited 01614868
Retirement Homesearch Limited 03829469
Mainstay Group Limited 04002715
Mainstay Facilities Management Limited 03340310
Mainstay Residential Limited 04052477
Chamonix Holdings 12500321
Chamonix Group Limited 05856372
Chamonix Estates Limited 05851267
Fairfield Company Secrefaries Limted 05988785

Basis of consolidation

The Group's consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 December.

A subsidiary s an entity contrclied by the Group Control 15 the power to govern the financial and operating
pelicies of an entity sa as to obtain benefits from its actwities The results of subsidiary undertakings are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date control is obtained untl the cdate contro!
ceases Where a subsidiary has different accounting policies to the Group. adjustments are made fo those
subsidiary financial statements to apply the Group's accounting policies when preparing the consolidated
financial statements

An assaciate is an enbity being neither a subsidhary nor a joint venture, in which the Group holds a iong-term
interest and where the Group has significant influence The Group cons:ders that it has significant influence
where it has the power to participate i the financial and operating decisions of the associale. The results of
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

All intra-Group transactions. balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation
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DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.7

1.8

1.9

Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation {continued)
Where the group has estabished empioyee benefit trusts (EBT) and s the sponsoring entty

natwithstanding the legal duties of the trustees. the group cansiders that it has “de facto’ cantrol of such

entites Such arrangements are accounted for as assets and habilities of the sponsonng company and
inciuded i the consolidated financial statements as appropnate The company’s equity instruments heid by
the EBT are accounted for as f they were the company's own equity and are treated as treasury shares No
gan or ldss is recogmised in profit or {oss or other comprehensive income on the purchase, sale or
canceltation of the company's own equity held by the EBT

Functional and presentation currency
The Group financial statements are presented in pound sterling and rounded to thousands The Company's
funchional and presentation currency 15 pound steriing

Revenue recognition

Revenue s measdred at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the
amount recewable for goods supplied or services rendered net of disgounts and rebates allowed by the
Group and value added taxes

The Group recognises revenue when {a) the significant nsks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer: (b) the Group retains no continuing involvement in or controil over the goods; (¢) the
amount of ravenue can be measured reliably (d) 1t 15 probabfe that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity and (e) when the specific critena refating to each of the Group's safes channels have been met as
descriped below

Revenue for the key services provided by the Group 15 recogrised as foilows
(i Residential and commercial properly management services

Fees for ressdential and commerc:al property management services. including maimtenance. are recognised
as the Group's obligations under the appiicable contracts are defivered ta the customer which 1s typically on
a straight-hne basis over the pencd of the contract

{11) Other revenue

Commussions earned on the placing of insurance products on behalf of third parties are recognised when the
Group has completed its services under the arrangements which 1s the inception date of the underlying
insurance policy. Any commission adjustments for addiional and return premiums are recognised as thay
qacour

fFees for real estale agency and property transfer services are recogrused on completion of the related
property sale Fees for residential lettings arranged by the Group are recognised on execution af binding
rental contracts between landlord and tenant

(nij  Recharge of house managers’ employment cost

Amounts collected fram customers in relation to the employment of house managers and deputies to
oversee individual developments managed by the Group are recogrnised as net of cost. where recharges
equal costs incurred The Group 1s considered to be an agent as it does not have exposure to significant
nsks and rewards associated with the rendering of these services
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Accounting policies {continued)

Government grants

Government grants are rocognised at the fan value of the asset received or recewvable when there is
reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and the grants will be received.

The Group adopts the accrual model relating to Government grants Government grants relating to turnover
are recognised as income over the periods when the related costs are incurred

Exceptional items

The Group classifies certain non-recurring charges or credits in a financia! period that are not part of the
underlying trading business that have a material impact (by size or nature) on the Group's financial results
as ‘exceptional 1ems’ These are disclosed separately to show the underlying trading of the Group

Employee benefits

The Group provides a range of benefits ic employees. including annual bonus arrangements paid holiday
arrangements and defined contribution pension plans

1) Short-term banefits

Short-term benefits. including holhday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the service 15 received An accrual is recognised at the balance sheet date
for any material remaining obligations to employees

{0} Defined contribution pension plans

The Group operates a number of country-specific defined contribution plans for its employees A defined
contribution plan 15 @ pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contnibutions into a separate entity.
Once the contributions have been paid the Group has no further payment obligations The contributions are
recognised as an expense when they are due. Amounts not pawd are shown in accruals in the balance sheet
The assets of the plan are held separately from the Group in independently administered funds

(i} Annual bonus plan

The Group operates annual bonus plans for employees An expense 15 recogrised 1n the profit and loss
account when the Group has a legal or constructive oligation to make payments under the plans as a resuit
of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made
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1.13

Accounting policies {(continued)

Share-based payments

From time fo time. the Group makes equity settled share-based payment awards ta employees of subsidiary
undertakings

In the Group financial statements. the fair vatue of the awards at the date of grant s charged to the profit or
loss over the vesting peried with a corresponding Increase 1n equity being recognised through retained
2arnings.

In the Company financial statements. the qgbligation to settie the transactton with the employees of
subsidiary undertakings 15 recognised as a capital contrnibution made to those subsiwdiaries by increasing the
cost of investment In subsidiary undertakings as the subsidianes recognises the charge for share based
payment awards in profit or loss

Nan-market vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments
expected to vest at each balance sheet date so that uitimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the
vesting period is based on the value of awards that eventually vest Non-vestng condittons and market
vesting conditions are factored into the far vatue of the awards granted As long as all other vesting
condiions are satsfied. a charge 15 made 1o profit or loss wrespectve of whether any market vesting
condiions are satisfred The cumulative expense 15 not adjusted for falure to achieve a market vesting
condition or where a non-vestng condibion 1s not saushied

Taxation

Taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recogrised in the reporting pened Tax
is recognised in the profit and loss account, except 1o the extent that it relates to items recognised 1n other
comprehensive income or directly in equity in which case the related tax s also recognised in other
camprehensive income or directly in equity respectively

Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted
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Accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)
{1} Current tax

Current tax 15 the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable prefit for the pencd Tax (s
calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year
end Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulaticn 1s subject to interpretation It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorties

{n} Deferred tax

Deferred tax anses from tming differences that are dfferences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive ncome as stated in the financial statements. These tming differences anse from the
inclusion of income and expenses m tax assessments in periods déferent from those In which they are
recognised in the financial statements Deferred tax 15 also recogmised n reiation to assets and liabilites
acauired m a business combination where the amount that will be deducted or assessed for tax differs to the
fair value at which the asset or hability 1s recognised on acqussition ins the financial statements The {ax base
of an asset or liability 1s determined basec on the expected manner of recovery Investment properties and
land are deemed to have recovery via disposal and accordingly the UK capital gains regime is apphed when
estimating the tax base of these assets

Deferred tax 1s recaogmsed on all timing differences at the reporling date Unrelieved tax losses and other
defarred tax assets are only recognised when it 1s probabie that they will be recovered against the reversal
of deferred tax habiliies or other future taxable profits

Deferred tax 15 measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
year end and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference

Deferred tax assets and habifities are offset when there 15 a legaliy enforceable nght to offset current tax
assets and labilities and when the deferred tax assets and habilties arise from income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on arther the same taxable entity ar different taxable entities where there 15 an ability
and intention to settle the balances at the same time.

Business combinations and goodwiil
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method.

The cost of a business combination 1s the fair value of the consideration given. labilites mcurred or
assumed and of equity instruments issued plus the costs directly attributable to the business combinatian
Where confrol 15 achieved in stages the cost is the consideration at the date of each transaction

On acquisttion of a business, far values are attnibuted to the identifiable assets. liabilites and cantingent
habilities unless the farr value cannot be measurad relably. in which case the value 1s incorporated in
goodwill Where the fair vaiue of contingent hahilities cannot be raliably measured they are disclosed on the
same basis as other cantingent liabiiitres

Goodwill recogrised represents the excess of the fair value and directly attributable costs of the purchase
cansideration over the fair values of the Group's interest in the identifiable ne! assets, habihties and
cortingent habilites acquired

On acquisition. gaadwil! is allocated ta cash-generating units (CGlS's ) that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the business combination from which 1t arose
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Accounting poticies {continued)

Business combinations and goodwilt {continued)

Goodwill is amortised over its expected useful hfe which 15 estmated to be twenty years Goodwill 15
assessed for mpairment when therg are indicatars of (mpairment and any impairment is charged to the
income statement No reversals of impairment are recognised

Intangible fixed assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impasment losses.
Intangible assets acquwed on business combinations are recognised separataly from goodwill at the
acquisition date if the fair value can be measured retiably

Amartisation 1s calculated. using the straight-line methad, to allucate the deprecrable amount of the assets
to their residual values over their estimated usefui lives. as follows

Software straight-line over 3 years
Acquired customer hsts straight-line over 2 to 10 years
Acquired brands straight-hne over 5 te 10 years

Amartisation 1s included n admmnistrative expenses’ n the profit and lass account

Where factors. such as technoiogical advancement ar changes in market price. indicate that reswdual value
or useful life have changed. the residual value useful lfe or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to
reflect the new circumstances

The assels are reviewed for imparment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amoun! may be
impaired

Costs associated with mamntaming compoter software are recognised as an expense as incurred
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of Wdentifiable and unique software
products controlied by the Group are recogmsed as intangible assets when the following cntena are met

+ s techmicafly feasible to complete the software so that it wili be avadable for use:

+  management intends to complete the software and use or sell i1,

* theres an ability to use or sell the software:

® it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefit

*» adequate technical. financial and other resources te complete the development and to use or self the
software are avallable and
* the expenditure attributabie to the software during s development can be reliably measured

Othear development expenditures that do not meet these criterta are recagnised 8s an expensa as incurred
Developmaeant costs previously recognised as an expense are not recogrised as an assel in a subsequent
period
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1

1.17

Accounting policies {continued)

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses Cost
includes the original purchase price, costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition
for its intended use, dismantling and restoration costs

Depreciation and residual values

Depreciaton on other assets s calculated, using the straight-ine method. to allocate the depreciable
amouni to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows

Office equipment. fixtures and fittings straight-line over 3 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed. and adjusted. if appropriate. at the end of each
reporting penod The effect of any change is accounted for prospectively

Subsequent additions

Subsequent costs, including major inspections. are included in the assets carrying amaunt or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 1s probable that economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably

Repairs. maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred
Derecognition

Tangible assets are derecogrused on dispesal or when ne future economic benefits are expected On
disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in the
profit and loss account and included in other operating income

Investment properties, including assets hetd for sale

The Group's interests n leasehold apartments within residential development sites are classified as
investment properties and ncluded within non-current assets

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost. which for the Group was the fair value from acquisition
in a business combination Subsequent to inthial recogniticn investment properties are recogrused at farr
value through profit and loss The fair value of investment properties 1s determined using valuahon
techniques to estimate their current market values taking intc consideration the timing and impact of any
encumbrances {o sale

From time to time the Group makes selected investment praperties available for sale where the demand in a
location warrants the cost of marketing and sales Where the likelihood of sale within the next financial year
i5 probable, the property 1s classified as held for resale and wncluded within current assets, and is
recognised at fair value less costs to sell

Fixed asset investments

Interest 1 subsidianes, associates and jointly controlled entties are witially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost fess any accumulated impairrment losses The investments are assessed for
impairment at each reporting date and any impairment fosses or reversals of impairment losses are
recognised immediately in profit or loss
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1.20

1.24

1.22

Atcounting policies (continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recagnised In the profit and loss accaunt in the period in which they are wncurred

Leased assets

At incaption the Group assesses agreements that transfer the right to use assets The assessment considers
whether the arrangement 1s. or contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement

Leases of assets that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as
finance leases

Finance feases are capitatised at commencement of the lease as assets at the fair value of the leased asset
or, if lower the present value of the minimum lease payments calculated using the interest rafe mplhict in the
lease Where the implicit rate cannot be determined the company's incremental borrowing rate 1s used
Incremental direct costs. incurred 10 negetiating and arranging the lease are mcluded in the cost of the
asset

Leases that do not transfer substantally all the nsks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating
leases Payments under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account an a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease

Incentives received to enter nto an operating fease are credited to the profit and loss account. 1o reduce the
lease expense. on a siraight-ine basis over the penad of the lease.

Impairment of nan-financial assets

At each halance sheet date non-financial assets not carried at far value are assessed to determine whether
there s an indication that the asset (or assel's cash-generatng unit) may be mpaired |f there is such an
indication the recoverable amount of the asset (or asset s cash-gengrating unit) 15 compared o the carrying
amount of the asset {ar asset's cash-generating unty The Group as a whole 's censidered to be a cash-
generating unit

The recoverable amount of the asset {or asset's cash-generating un) is the higher of the fair value less
costs to sell and value in use Value in use 15 defined as the present value of the future casn flows before
interest and tax abtainable as a result of the assel's {or assel's cash-generating unit} continued use These
cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that represents the current market nsk-free rate and
the rnsks inherent In the asset

If the recoverable amount of the asset {or asset's cash-generating unit) is estimated 1o be lower than the
carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to iis recoverable amount An impairment loss is recogrised
in the profit and loss agcount

If an imparment joss 15 subsequently reversed, the carrping amount of the asset {or asset's cash-generating
unit) 15 increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. but only to the extent that the revised
carrying amaunt does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determingd (net of deprecration
or amortisatien) had no wmpairment loss been recognised in prior years. A reversal of an imparment loss 15
recognised i the profit and fess account. Goodwiii 15 affocated on acquisition to the cash-generating unut
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combmation Goodwill i1s included in the carrying vatue of cash-
generating units for impairment testing Any previous impairment of goodwili is not reversed
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1.23

1.24

1.25

Accounting policies {continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cach and cash cquivalents includes vash i hand, deposits held at call with banks and bank overdrafts
Bank overdrafts when appropriate are shown within borrowings in current liabilitres

For the pwpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows the Group adopts an accounting policy of
classifying interest receipts as an investing cash flow and interest payments as a financing cash flow
Taxation cash flows are classified as operating cash flows

Provisions

Provisions are recogrised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a resuft of past
events: it 15 probabte that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount of
the obligation can be estimated reliably

Prowvisions are measured based on the Group's best estimate at the reparting date of the expendiures
expecled to be required to settle the obligation discounted to the present value. where matenal

Financial instruments

The Group has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments
) Financial assets

Basic financial assets. including trace and other recevables and cash and bank balances. are initially
recogmised at iransaction price. unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transacton. where the
{ransaction 1s measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest
Such assets are subsequently carned at amortised cost using the effective interest method

At the end of each reporting penod financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective
evidence of impairment If an asset is impaired the impairment less is the difference between the carrying
ameunt and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective
interest rate The unpairment loss 1s recogrised in profit or loss

If there 1s a decrease in the impairment loss ansing fram an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised. the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not
exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not previcusly been recognised The
impairment reversal 1s recognised in profit or loss

Financiat assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or
are settled, or (b} substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to
another party or (c) despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership. control of the
asset has been transferred to another party whao has the practicat ability to unifaterally sell the asset to an
unrefated thirg party without )imposing additional restrictions

(1) Financeal liabilties

Basic financial liabilities. including trade and other payables, bank loans. loans from fellow Group
companies and preference shares that are classified as debt. are inhally recognised at transaction price,
unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. where the debt instrument is measured at the
present vatue of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost. using the effective interest rate method
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1.25

Accounting policies {continued)

Financial instruments (continued}
(ij  Financial hiabilifies (continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that seme or all of the facility wi!! be drawn down In this case the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of
the facifity to which if refates

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less If not, they are presented as nan-current habilities Trade payables are recognised initialty at
transacton price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method

Financial liabiites are derecogrised when the lability s extinguwshed that 5 when the contractual
obligation 13 discharged, cancelled or expires

(i4)  Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilites are offset and the net amounts presented in the bnancial statements when
there is a legally enforceable right 1o set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis of to realise the asset and settle the liabity simultaneously.

(ivi  Chent monies heid

The properly management services performed by the Group include services provided to residential
management companies and which involve arranging and holding cash from levies and charges paid by
residents to the residential management companes The cash held at any pomt in time 15 beld under
Statutory Teust as set out in the Landlord & Tenant Act 1987 Accordingly. the Group does not include these
cash balances :n its balance sheet

Share capital

Ordmary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares are shown 1n equity as a deduction. net of tax, from the proceeds.

Related party transactions

The Group discioses transactions with retated parlies which are not wholly owned within the Group Where
appropriate, tfransactiens of a similar nature are aggregated unless, in the opinian of the directors, separate
disclosure 15 necessary to understand the effect of the transactions on the Group financial statements

Critical agcounting judgements and estimation uncertainty

In the applicaton of the Group's accountng policies the directors are reguired to make judgements.
estimates and assumptions about the garrying amount of assets and habilities that are not readily apparent
fram other sources The estimates and associated assumpltions are based on historical expenence and
other factors that are considered to be relevant Acluai results may differ from these estimates,
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2 Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the pericd w1 which the estimate is revised where the
revision affects anly that period. or in the period of the revision and future penods where the revision affects
both current and future periods

{a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

{t) Ciassihication of leasehold apartments as investment properties

The Group's interests in leasehold apartments within residential development sies are classified as
investment properties and included within non-current assets In applying this classification the Group has
considered several factors ncluding the apartments are typrcally used by house managers. the apartments
are nof used by the Group for any other adminustrative purposes. the Group does not typically earn rental
income from the apariments. but does benefit from capital appreciation in the open market value of the
apartments, the apartments are periodically made available for sale by the Group and hence gains in value
are crystallised. the fair value of the apariments can be readily attained in a manner that 1s not considered to
require undue cost or effort on the part of the Group.

{b) Key accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerming the future The resulting accounting estmates wilf.
by definhon seldom equal the related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assels and habifities within the next financial
year are addressed below

(i} Fair value of acquisition of Kmght Square Hoidings Limnted, Mainstay Group and Chamorix Group
The far vaiue of tangible and intangible assets acguired on the acquisitien of Knight Square Holdings
Limited Group, Mamstay Group and Chamormix Group involved the use of valuaton techniques and the
estimation of future cash flows to be generated over a number of years The estimation of the farr values
requires the combination of assumptions including revenue growth, sales nmix and velumes. rental values
and increases and customer attrition rates In addition the use of discount rates requires judgement

(i) Imparrment of intangible assets and goodwili

The Group congiders annually whather an indicatar of goodwill impairment exists Where an indication of
imgairment exists management are required to estimate the recoverable value of the cash-generating units
{CGUs) This requiras estimatien of the future cash flows from the CGUs and also selection of appropniate
discount rates in order to calculate the ne! present value of those cash flows.

(iti) Dsvalopment related prowisions

The Group manages a large number of cornmercial angd residental property developments, which give nise to
some disputes and claims by customers under the management contracts that govern them  These claims
can take many years {0 emearge. so management considers it appropriate 1o recognise a provision. These
provisiens reguire management s best estmate of the costs that will be incurred based on legislative and
contractual requirements In addition, the timing of the cash fiows and the discount rates used to estabiish
net present vatue of the obligatons reguire management's judgement

{iv}  Deferred tax assels
The recognition of deferred tax assets particularly relating to previously incurred losses. requires judgement,
including in relation to the future taxable profits of the entities that incurred the losses the types of tosses
and future income the utiisation of capial allowances in any year, and the extent of group relief transfers to
be made across the Group
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Actuisitions in the year

Acquisition of Mainstay Group

On 15 September 2020 the Group acquired 100% share of Mamstay Group Limited for a total consideration of
£34.385k. The following table summarises the consideration paid by the Group. the fair value of assels

acquired and habiities assumed at the acquisition date.

Consideration at 15 Septembeer 2020 £'000
Cash 30.058
Non-cash consideration 3630
Directly attributable cost 897
34,385
_—-———
Far cash flow disclosure purposes the amounts are disclosed as follows
Cash consideration 30.058
Directly attnbutable cost 697
30 755
Less
Cash and cash equmalents acquired (5.414)
Net cash flow 25 341
Notes Book Value  Adjustments  Fair Value
£'o000 £'000 £'000
Fixed assets
Customer relationships 16 - 13.602 11.602
Brands 16 - 3161 3161
Tangble assets 17 537 . 537
Current assets
Trade and other recevables 2877 - 2 877
Cash and cash equivatents 5414 B 5414
Related party receivable 3630 - 3630
Total assets 12.458 14.763 27221
Trade and other payables {7.049) - (7 049)
Corperation tax payable (99} - (99)
Deferred tax habiity {85) (2.809) {2.890)
Net Assets 5225 11,958 17 183
Goodwill 16 17 202
Total purchase consideration 34 385
f——"" —
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31

Acquisition of Mainstay Group (continued)

Contribution by the acquired business fer the reporting pericd since acquistion

2020

£'000
Turnover 7.092
Profit B74

Upon acquisition, the business had net assets with a2 fair vaiue of £17 183k, Included in the fair value
adjustments are the recognition of intangible assets relating to the acquired business's customer
relationships and brand identfied and its far value was measured at £11.802k and £3.161k respectively A
deferred tax hability of £2 805k has been recogmsed on the intangible assets which has been added to
goodwill.

The goodwill of £17 202k from the acquisition 15 attributable to the expertise and expernence of the workforce
acquired, the customer relatonships and economies of scale expected from combining the operations into
the Group Management has estimated the useful ife of the goodwill to be 20 years.

The customer relationships intangible assets has been attributed a useful ife of between 2 and 10 years and
brands intangible asset has teen attributed a useful e of 10 years The usefu! Iife is based on the penod of
when the majonty of the value is generated
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Acquisitions in the year

Acquisition of Chamonix Group

Qn 2 December 2020 the Group acquired 100% share of Chamonix Holdings Limded fot a tatal consideration
of £16.355k The foliowing table summanses the consideration paid by the Group. the fair value of assets

acquired and liabilties assumed at the acquisition date

Consideration at 2 December 2020: £000
Cash 7690
Borrowings settied 7.922
Non-cash consideration 477
Cirectly attributable cost 266
16,355
For cash flow disclosure purposes the amounis are disclosed as follows
Cash consideration 7690
Borrowings settled 7.922
Directly atiributable cost 266
15878
tess.
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (4.254)
Net cash flow 11.624
Notes Book Value  Adjustments  Fair Value
£000 £'900 £'000
Fixed assets
Customer relationships 16 - 7258 7.258
Brands 16 - 501 501
Tangible assets 17 62 - 62
Current assets
Trade and cther receivables 887 - 897
Cash and cash egquivalents 4,254 - 4254
Total assets 5213 7759 12.872
Trade and ciher payables (1.271} - (1.271)
Corporation tax payabie (294) - (294)
Deferred tax habilty {571 [1.474; {1.531)
Net Assets 3599 6.285 9,876
Goodwill 16 6,479
Total purchase consideration 16,355
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3.2 Acquisition of Chamonix Group {continued)
Contribution by the acquired business for the reporting period since acguisition
2020
£000
Turnover 473
Profit 178
Upon acguisition, the business had net assets with a farr value of £9 876k Included in the far value
adjustments are the recognihon of intangible assets relating to the acquired business's customer
relationships and brand identiied and its fair value was measured at £7.258k and £501k respectively A
deferred tax liabity of £1,474k has been recagnised on the intangible assets which has been added 1o
goodwill
The goodwill of £6. 479k from the acquisition is attributable to the expertise and expernence of the workforce
acquired the customer relationships and economies of scale expected from combining the operations into
the Group Management has estimated the useful life of the goodwill to be 20 years
The customer relationships intangible asset has been attributed a useful fe of 10 years and brands
intangible asset has been attributed a useful Iife of 5 years The useful life 1s based on the penod of when
the majarity of the value is generated
4 Turnover
An analysis of the group's turnover 1s as follows
7 month
Y
ear ended period ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
£'000 £000
Turnover by category
Residential property management services 55 375 18.443
Commercial property and asset management 8415 -
Other revenug 2.996 958
66.786 19.401
Other revenue relates to insurance commissiens and consultancy revenue
All turnover is generated in the UK
5 Cost of sales

Cost of sales anse due to the acquisition of Mainstay's commercial property mangement business and
residential facilihes management business Cost ef sales recognised in relation to the residential facilitities
management business 15 where the Group considers stself to be principal rather than agent in providing on-
site staff

As cost of sales only takes the above costs inio consideration. gross profit shown should not be used when
trying tc deterrmine the profitability of the Group

50



DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Year ended 7 month
6 Exceptional items period ended
31 December 31 Becember
2020 2018
£'000 £'000

Transactional costs 907 1.941
Restructure costs 1.546 -

Other excephonal items 33 182

2,784 2,123

Transactional costs mainiy relate to one-off costs incurred on the acquisition of Mainstay and Chamonix
such as professional fees and integration costs

Restructure costs incurred as a result of restructuning the Group due to COVID-19 and the Mainstay
acquisition

Other exceptional 1ems largely relate to one off costs assacialed with dealing with the COVID-19 pandenuc
and relate to personal protective equipment Included in other excephional items are costs n relation to
exiting the London Bridge office and legacy costs assocated with the acguistion of Knight Square Holdings
Limited Group in 2019

In 2019 exceptional charges related to the acquisition of Knight Square Holdings Limited Group

7 Other Operating Income

An analysis of the other operating income is as follows:
T month
period ended
31 December 31 December

Year gnded

2020 2019

£'000 £000
R&D expenditure credit 386 -
Governmaent grant 256 -
672 -

R&D expenditure credi relates to an R&D tax claim made on the Group's development of ds digital project

Gaovernment grant refates to the UK Government's Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) The Graup
furioughed employees in ing with the CJRS and recognised £286k in the year as mcome There are no
contingencies attached to the CJRS
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8 Operating toss
Operating ioss for the year / period 15 stated after charging

Depreciation of cwned tangible assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

Loss on disposal of tangibie assets
Qperating lease charges

g Adjusted EBITDA

Operating loss reconciles to adjusted EBITDA as follows

Qperating {oss

Depreciation of owned tangible assets
Amaortisation of intang:ble assets

Loss on disposal of tangible assets
Exceptional items

Share-based payments

Adjusted EBITDA

10 Auditors’ rermuneration

Fees payable to the Company's auditors and therr associates

Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the
Parent Company and the Group's Conschdated financial
statements

Fees payable to the Company's audnors for other services
- The audit of the Company's subsidiarnies

- Audit related assurance services

- Tax compliance services

- Tax advisory services

- Other services

Tetal amount payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates

Year ended

31 December

7 month
period ended
31 December

2020 2018

£000 £'000

1,840 655
10,421 2920

55 -

3.451 1.086
Year ended 7 month

31 December

period ended
31 December

2020 2018
£000 £'000
(1.653) (2,.238)

t 849 655
10.421 2.920

55 -

2784 2.123

68 -

13.484 3.460
Year ended 7 month

31 December

period ended
31 December

2020 2018
£000 £°000

422 46
12 241
31 &
22 95
129 115
5 7
622 510

52



DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

11

12

Employees

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the group and cempany during
the year was

2020 2019
Number Number
Office and management 1.539 790
House managers and deputies 2.260 2.309
3799 3.099
Their aggregate rémuneraton comprised
Year ended 7 manth

period ended
31 December 31 December

2020 2019

£'000 £°000
Wages and salaries 33.534 12 450
Social secunly cosis 3350 2.503
Other pension cosis (note 27) 1.285 346
Share-based payments 68
Total aggregate remunerabion before capitalised costs 38 237 15.299
Less capitahseg costs (790) (159)
Aggregate remuneration charged to profit and loss 37 447 15140

House managers are employed by the Group 1o oversee individual developments managed by the Group.
The employment ¢ost of house managers 15 not included in the above table as these cosls are recharged at
cost o the developments managed by the Group and therefore are not a cost to the Group on account of the
Group being an agent for this transacton These amounted to wages and salary costs of £38912k (2019:
£12.088k} social security costs of £2, 902k (2019 EB86k) and other pension costs of £1.232k (2019 £355k).

Duning the year ended 31 December 2020. the Group capialised wages and salaries of £684k (2015:
£134k). soctal securty cost of £75k (2019 18k) and other pension cost of £31k (2019 Sk) Captalsed
wages farms part of the cost of internally developed software

Directors' remuneration
7 month
period ended
31 December 31 December

Year ended

2020 2018

£000 £000
Aggregate remuneralions 1.020 266
1.020 266

The number of directors for whom retirement benefits are accruing unger defined benefit schemes amounted
to one {2019 none}

4 directors were pad by the Group dunng the year The remamng direclors did not receive fees The
emolumenis disclosed above are from the date which the indvidual became a direclor of the Company
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12

13

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Remuneration disclosed above includes the following amounts paid {o the bighest paid director

Aggregate emoluments

Company

The Company has no ermployees (2019 none)

Interest payabie and similar expenses

Interest an financiai liabdties measured at amortised cost

interest on bank loans and overdrafis

Interest an finance leases and hire purchase contracts
Interest on sharehoider toans

Lean fee amorhisation

Year ended

31 December

7 month
period ended
31 December

2020 2019
£'000 £'000
565 146
565 146
Year ended 7 month

31 December

period ended
31 December

2020 2019
£000 £000

5 557 1.643
- 3
5604 1.622
588 161
11749 3,429

Debt 1ssue costs, including {oan amortisation fees which are directly incurred in arrangement of borrowing
facilihes are included within the calculation of the effective interest rate on the borrowing. but are disclosed
separately as the Group conswder this informaticn aids 'n the understanding of the total financing costs
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14

Share-based payments

During the current year and prior period, certain employees of the Group subscribed for a total of 23 208 B
Ordinary Shares in the Company The B Ordinary Shares were issued i order o incentivise the holders to
grow the value of the Group

In the event that a holder of B Ordinary Shares leaves the employment of the Group. the Company has the
right but not the ebligation to require the holder to transfer thewr B Ordinary Shares to an employee of the
Group or an employee trust established for the benefit of employees of the Group.

The price that a holder of B Ordinary Shares receives for such a transfer depends upon. inter alia. the date on
which the holder teaves and the manner In which they leave. The price varies between the “fair price’ of the
shares (this being a price determined by the transferor and remuneraticn commitiee or, In the absence of
agreement, an independent expert) and the price the holder paid for the share

In all other respects the B Ordinary Shares rank pan passu with the A Ordinary Shares of the Company (the
only other ciass of shares in 1ssue) as regards voting rights nights to dividends and nghts on a return of
capital

The 1ssue of the B Ordinary Shares has been accounted for as an equity seitled share-based payment
arrangement in accordance with the accounting polcy described in note 1 13

The fawr value of the shares tssued under this arrangement has been measured by reference to the expected
future value of the Group at an assumed exit date. this being the date of sale. asset sale. listing or winding-
up The mawmn steps in the valuation approach were as follows

« Step 1 - estimating the enterpnse value of the Group at the date the B Ordinary Shares were 1ssued

« Step 2 - simulating the future enterprise value of the Group using a Mote-Carlo valuation model through to
the assumed exit date,

 Step 3 - desiving the value atiributable to the holders of the A Ordinary Shares and B Ordinary Shares of the
Caompany by deducting net debt at the assumed exit date.

« Step 4 - allocating the proportion of the equity value to the B Ordinary Shares

+ Step 5 - discounting the equity value hack to the date the B Ordinary Shares were issued using the risk-free
rate and expected time to the assumed exit date.

For the penod ended 31 December 2019, no accounting charge was recogmised in relation to the above
descrbed share-based payment arrangement as the amount was considered immatenal Dunng the year
ended 31 December 2020. the Group has recogmsed a total expense of £68k in profit or loss. This comprises
a catch up charge of £12k in relation to the prior period and a charge of £56k for the current year
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15

Tax on loss

Year ended

31 December

7 month
period ended
31 December

2020 2019
£000 £000
Current tax
UK corporation tax on taxable loss for the current year - g
Adjustments in respect of prior penods (459) -
Total current tax {credit) / charge {459) 9
Deferred tax
Orngination and reversal of iming differances (606) 115
Adustments in respect of prior periods 545 -
Effect of tax rate change on cpening batance 1.156 (53)
Total deferred tax 1.095 63
Total tax charge fcr the year 636 72

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per the profit and
follows.

Year ended

31 December

loss account as

7 month
period ended
31 December

2020 2019
£'000 £'¢00
Loss before taxation 13.442) (5.687)
Expected tax credit based on a corporation tax rate of 19% (2019 19%) (2.554) (1.077)
Non-deductible expenses 2.190 1.202
Effect of changes in tax rates and laws 1.156 (53)
Income not taxable for tax purposes {2)
R&D expenditure credits {73} -
Adjustments in respect of prios periods {459
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (deferred tax) 545 -
Transfers {187) -
Total tax charge for the year 836 72

In the Spring Budget 2021. the Government annaunced that frorm 1 Apnl 2023 the corporation tax rate will
increase te 25% Since the propesatl to increase the rate to 25% had not been substantively enacted at the

balance sheet date. ts effects are not included in these financial statements Howsver. it

15 Lkely that the

overall effect of the change, had # been substantwely enacted by the balance sheet date, would be to
increase the tax expense for the year by £3.598k and o increase the deferred tax liabiiity by £3 598k

Deferred tax balances at 31 Qecember 2020 were measured at 19% (2019 19%) for items that are

expected (o be chargad or credited to the profit and loss account in the next financial year
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16 Intangible assets

Group Goodwill Software  Customer Brands Total
List

£'000 £'000 £000 £°000 £000
Cost Note
Balance at 1 January 2020 51.998 5568 56.632 7722 121,920
Adddions - 8.556 - - 8.556
Additions from acquisition of Mainstay 31 17,202 - 11.602 3.181 31965
Additions from acquisition of Chamonix 3.2 6479 . 7.258 501 14,238
Balance at 31 December 2020 75,679 14 124 75,492 11.384 176 679
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2020 823 59 1.783 245 2,920
Amortisation charge for the year 2.878 497 6173 873 10,421
Baiance at 31 December 2020 3.701 555 7.9686 1118 13.341
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020 71.978 13.568 67 526 10.2686 163,338
At 31 December 2019 51.175 5 509 54.839 7.477 119.000

Included 1n total cost of software £12.787k has been classified as assets under construction as at 31 December 2020
(2019 £4,246k)

The Company had no intangible assets at 31 December 2020 or 31 December 2019
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17

Tangible assets

Group

Cost

Batance at 1 January 2020

Additions frorm acquisttion of Mainstay
Additions from acquisstien of Chamonix
Additions

Disposals

Balance a! 31 December 2020
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at t January 2020

Depreciation charged in the year
Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2020

Carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 2020

Batance a1 31 December 2039

Office equipment,
tixtures & fittings
Note £'000

3.765

3.1 537
3.2 62
975

210)

5,130

655
1,849
{158)

2,349

2781

INt

The Company had no tangible assets at 31 December 2020 or 31 December 2019
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18 Investment in subsidiaries

Group Group Company Company
2020 2019 2029 2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Total investment in subsidianes - - 162 94
Movements in investments
Company £'000
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020 94
Capifal contributions made to subisidianes 68
Balance at 31 December 2020 162
Carrying amount
Balance 3t 31 December 2020 162
Balance at 31 December 2019 94

investment 1n subsidiaries held by the Company can be found in note 35

Capitat contributicns made to subsidiaries in the year anse as a result of share-based payments charges o
employees in the subsidiary entities The obligation to settle the transaction with the employees of subsidiary
undertakings 15 recegnised as a capial contribution made to those subsidiaries by Increasing the cost of
investment 1n subsidiary undertakings as the subsidianes recogrises the charge for share based payment
awards in profit or ioss See note 1 13 for further details

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments 1s not mare than their recoverable amount as
supporied by their underlying assets
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20

Financial instruments

2020 2019
Note £'000 £'000
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Trade debtors 20 2643 1.490
Other debtors 20 995 722
Cash at bank and in hand 7585 4 558
Accrued income 828 678
12.051 7.448
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Trade creditors 22 3.161 2,167
Other creditors 22 3,307 2121
Accruals 3,980 7,078
Bank leans 24 97.700 64 200
Shareholder ioans - principal 24 51.431 51036
Interest on shareholder loans 24 7.221 1,622
Deferred financing cosis 24 (4,246) (2943)
172 554 125.281
Debtors
Group Group Company Company
2020 2019 2020 2018
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Ameounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 2643 1.490 -
Amounts owed by group undertakings - 318 -
Corporation tax recoverable 1478 593 - .
Other debtors 995 722 -
Prepayments and accrued income 3,757 2.508 - -
8.871 5313 318 -

Trade deblors are stated after provisions for impairment of £413k (2019 £91k)

Armounts owed by Group undenakings are unsecured Interest free. have no fixed date of repayment and are

repayable on demand

60



DRIVE TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

21 Client monies

Residents’ net cash balances held in trust accounts at 31 December 2020 were £338,182k (2019 £250,.318%)
Cacgh balances held i joint accounts at 31 December 2020 were £4 804k (2019 £6.307k)

22 Creditors: amounts falling due within cne year

Group Group Company Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

£'000 £000 £°000 £000

Trade creditors 3.161 2187 - -

Amounts owed Yo group undertakings - - 268 -

Qther crediors 3.307 2121 - -

Corpoeration tax payable 445 - - -
Other taxation and social security 8.153 2.380 -

Accruals and deferred income 9.522 7.078 1 -
24 588 13.746 259

Amounts owed to group undertalengs are unsecured interest free have no fixed date of repayment and are
repayable on demand

23 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Group Company Company

2020 2018 2020 2019

Note £'000 £'900 £'000 £'000

Bank loans and overdrafts (net of financing costsy 24 93.454 61.257 - -
Shareholder loans 24 61,431 51.036 - -
Interest cn shareholder loansg 24 7221 1.622 - .-

1621086 113915 - -
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Borrowings

Bank ipans

Shareholder loans - principat
interest on shareholder loans
Deferred financing costs

Payahle after one year

Bank loans

The Group has a £105.2m bank facility comprsing of the following

Bank facility term scheduie

Group

Term loan facility B1
Term loan facility B2

Term ipan acguisiion/capex facility

Revolving facility

Additionat Super Senior Facthty

Additional Unitranche Facility

Second Additional Unitranche Facility

Group Group Company Company
2020 2019 2020 2018
£'000 £000 £000 £000
87 700 64,200 -
61.431 51,036 - -
7.221 1.622
(4,246} {2,943)
162,106 113,915 -
162.106 113915
Nominal Termination R nt Credit
Interest rate date epayme Facility
£000
LIBCR +2.25% 09-Cct-25 Attermmnation date 12,100
LIBOR + 6% 09-Apr-26 At termination date 52.100
LIBOR + 8% 09-Apr-26 At termination date 10.60C
LIBOR + 2 25% 09-Oct-25 At termination date 7.560
LIBOR + 3% 09-Oct-25 At termination date 4,000
LIBOR + 7 75% 09-Apr-26 At termination date 7.000
LIBOR + 6 75% 09-Apr-26 At termination date 12.500
105,200

The revolving facibty remains undrawn as at 31 December 2020

interest on the facility 15 cash settled on a six monthly basis A commitment fee 1s charged on the undrawn

amount on a three monthly basis

The facility is held by FirstPort Limited and s secured against the shares and assets of Knight Square

Limited and ds subsidiaries

The financiai covenants attached to the £105 2m bank facility were iested as at year end Compliance with
covenants in respect of the external bank debt has been assessed to June 2022 with ro breaches farecast

The nominal interest rate in the table above s conditional and depends on the financial performance of the
Group The curfent rate disclosed s based on the current financiat performance
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25

Borrowings (continued)

Shareholder loans

The Group has one ciass of sharehoider ioan note instrument in ISSUe a1 the balance sheet date Dunng the year the Group
issued a further £10.459.413 of sharehclder loan notes le finance the acquisition of Mainstay The loan notes are hsted on
The international Stock Exchange. As at the 31 December 2020 the Drive Topco Employee Benefit Trust holds £64k of
ghareholter loan notes (2018 £nil) which i1s consalidated n the Group and Company financial statements See note 17 for
further details

The prnepal outstanding on the shareholder loan notes i the Group as at 31 December 2020 was £61 431k (2019

£51 038k) and have been provided by the following parties

2020 2018

e Accrued  Interest interest L Accrued  Interest
Prinéipal . Pringipal .

interest paid expense interest expense
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'900
Equistone Pariners Eurape Limited 59 307 6978 - § 408 49 461 16872 1.572
Management 2124 243 (5} 198 1575 50 50
61,431 7221 (5) 5604 51 036 1622 1622

Inlerest is payable on the oulstanding balance 2t a rate of 10% of the prnopal accrued on a daly basis  Interest on the
Shareholder Loan Notes can be setlled annually an & Septermber by at the Group's oplion erther the issue of Payment in
Kind (PIK) Notes which rank ahead of the onginal notes or Dy deferral in which case compound interest wall apply io the

amount deferred

Repayment of ihe Shareholder Loan Notes 1s due on the eather of & Seplember 2029 or on exit

Deferred financing costs
Deferred financing costs are amortised over the penod of the revalving credit faciity which makes up the effective mterest

rale

Provisions for liabilities
Group Company Group Company

2020 2020 2018 2019

Note £'000 E£'000 £000 E'000

Development refated provisions 542 . 538 -
Deferred tax lahiities 26 15131 - 9615

15673 - 1G.1583 -
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26

Provisions for liabilities (continued)

Movements on development refated provisiens
Development

refated

provisions

Group Note £000
Balance at 1 January 2020 538
On acquisition 3.1 205
Additional provistons i the year 631
Release of provisions in the year {(171)
Utilisation of provision {721
Balance at 31 December 2020 542

The Group manages a large number of commerciai and residential property developments which give nse to
some cisputes and claims by custamers under the management contracts that govern them  These claims
can take many years to emerge so management considers it appropriate to recegruse a provision These
provis«ons require management's best esimate of the costs that will be incurred based on legislative and
contractual requirements. In addition, the timing of the cash flows and the discount rates used 1o establish
net present valug of {the obligations require management's judgement

Whilst significant progress has been made in addressing these claims. and management continue to assess
them on ther ments, a provision of £542k (2019 £538k) has been recognised al the year end This is
expected to be utlised over a penod of up to five years, with an estimated £461k (2019 £308k) expected to
be settled within the next financial year

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group or company has a legally enforceable nght to
do 50 The following 15 the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

2020 2020 2019 2019

Group £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Fixed asset timing differences - (16.602) - (9.684)
Short-term timing differences 73 - - (20}
Mon-trading timing cifferences - - 60 -
l.osses 1.434 - 61 -
Invesiment property - (361 - (32)
1.507 (16,638} 121 (9.736)
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26 Deferred taxation (contihued)

Note
Movements in the year:
Liability at 1 January 2020
On acquisition of Mainstay 31
On acquisttion of Chamonix 32

Charge o profit and loss account

Liability at 31 December 2020

Group
£:000

{9.615)
(2.580)
(1.531)
(1.095)

Company
E'000

(15.131}

The net deferred tax liabiiity expecied to reverse in 2021 is £1.782k (2019 £1 146k} This primarily relates to

the reversal of tming differences on capital allowances

The Group does not have any unrecognised deferred tax asset for losses carned forward

Company

The Company has no deferred tax provision at 31 December 2020 (2019 ml)

27 Retirement benefit schemes

Defined contribution schemes
Charge to profit and loss account

2020
E'000

1.285

2019
E£'000

346

The Group spansars ang contribuites to a defined contnibution scheme for ifs employees Pension cantnbutions outstanding

and included n accruals at the year end amounded to £511k (2019 £356Kk)

65



DRIVE TCPCQ LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENCED 31 DECEMBER 2020

28

29

Called up share capital and other reserves

Group and company Group and company
Called up Share  Treasury Called up Share  Treasury
share  premlum shares share premium Shares
capital account reserve capital account Reserve
2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2049
£'A00 £000 £'000 £000 C'oo0 £900
Qrdinary share capital
Issued and fully paid
98 460 (2019 80000) A Ordinary shares of £0 01 1 115 - 1 79
24515 (2019 14,000} B Ordinary shares of €001 - 29 (3 . 14
Acquisition of shares by EBT - - (4) - -
Settlement of shares by EBT members . . [ . . .
1 144 (1) 1 93 -

A and B Ordinary shares carry one vote par snare All ciasses of shares have a neminal value of £C 01, have the nght 1o receiva
dividends and a night to return of capdal

Qn 16 January 2020, the Company issued 1,500 "B’ Ordinary shares at £1 per share to management

On 15 Apnl 2020 the Company 33ued 2 500 'B° Orchinary shares at £1 per share 1o management

On 15 September 2020 the Company ssued 18 460 'A' Ordinary shares and 4 615 8" Ordinary shares at £1 85 per share 1o finance
the Mainstay acquistion

On & Apnl 2020 the Company issued 1 400 'B' Ordinary shares at £1 per share to the EBT These were ahiocated 10 and selt’ed by

employees al £1 per share
In 2020. the EBT acquired 1 750 ‘B Ordinary shares at £1 per share and 1 400 ‘B’ Grdinary shares al £1 95 per share from

management
On 21 December 2020, the Company issued 600 'B’ Cranary shares at £1 95 per share lo the EBT Following this, 2 343 '8
Ordinary shares were issued (o and seliled by emplovees at £1 95 per share

The amount within the Treasury shares reserve represents shares held by the EBT that have nol vel been issued to employees

The Company recogmses a credit relatng to equity-setiled share-based payments mto share-based payment reserve This s nota
realised profit ana thus 1s a non-distnbutable reserve For ine year ended 31 Dacamber 2020 this amounted 1o £68k which ncludes
£12k [rom the 2019 period See note 14 for further details

QOperating lease commitments

At the reporting end date the Group and company had outstanding cormmitments for future minmum lease payments under non-
canceilable operahing leases which fall due as follows

Group Company Group Company
2020 2020 2018 2019
E'000 £'000 E'000 £000
Within one ygar 1.820 - 1.400
Between twa and five years 1492 - 1027 -
in over five years 356 - 6 -
3698 - 2433 -
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3

32

Contingent liabilities

The Group is party o a Group Debenlure secured over all of ds assels in favour of Lucd Trustee Services Limited as a
Security Agent acting on behalf of Natvyest and Pemberton. The Borrewer is FirstPort Limited, a subsidiary company The
loan batance, excluding defarred financing cast. and accrued interest payable outstanding at the balance sheel date ware
£97 700k and £1,205k respectively

A number of bank accounts maintained for developments under management {and included in Chent Monies described in
note 19) were overdrawn at 31 December 2020 amounting to £772 (2019 £2.072). The Group have given unlinuted
guarantees on these amounts in the event of defauit.

Events after the balance sheet date

There have been no events after the baiance sheet date that have taken place that has materially aftected the Group

Related parties
Group

Equistone Partners Europe | imited and the funds managed by Equistone Partners Europe Limited, registered in England
and Wales, are regarded as related parties due 10 ther shareholding i the Company. their provision of sharehotder loans to
the Group. and their representation on the board of Direclars, which gwves them significant influgnce aver the Company and
Group

The key management personnel of the Group are consirlered to be the Drectors of the Company and cerlain senior
management empioyees of the Group A number of the key management persgnnel have also prowded funding to the
Group via shareholder loans and are shareholders of Ihe Company

Transactions with related parties

The funds managed by Equistone Parners Evrope Limited and key management persennel are holders of Shareholder
Loan Notes. wisch are included in Borrowings and incur interest expense (etails of these transachons and balances are
shown i nole 22

Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel which includes those directors remunerated by the Group. 15 as follows

Year ended Year ended

020 2019
£000 £'000
Aggregate emolumenis 1972 580
Gther pension costs 7 i
1079 591
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33

34

35

Related parties (continued)

Company

The Company's anly related party transachons in the year were with wholly pwned subsidianes and so have not been disclosed All
balances i the current period were with whally owned subsidianes

Controliing party

In the opmion of the dweciors, the uitimate controiling party 's funds managed by Equisione Pariners Europe Limited Equistone
Partners Europe Limited is registered i England and Wales

Onve Topce Limited 15 the parent undertaking of the laigest and smallest group of undertakings for which group financiat statements
are prepared

The consolidated financial statements of Dnve Topco Limited are available from Companies House Crown Way Maindy, Carciff
CF4 3UZ or from the Company's registered office 8t Queensway House 11 Queensway, New Miton Hampshire. UK BH25 5NR

Result of the company for the financial year

As permitied by saction 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company's profit and foss account has not been mcluded in thesa
tinarcial statements The Company made a profit of E4k in the Enancal year (2019 £mil)

Subsidiaries

Details of the company's subsihanes at 31 December 2020 are as foliows

Mame of undertaking and country of incorporation or Nature of Registered % Held
residency business Postcode

Direct Indirect
Amenity Property (Avon Meadows England & Wales
Becttord) Limsted Na 08641151 Dormant WRS 22X 100 00
Amenity Praperty (Bnlannia Mews England & Walas
Telford) Limited No 08361899 Dormant WRS5 22X 100 GO
Amenity Property {(Cally Blue Fields England & Wales
Stockton) Limited No 10461397 Dormant WRS 22X 100 00
Amenity Property {Entech House Engiand & Wales
Woolmar Green) Limitad No 12063881 Dormant WRS 22X 108 00
Amerily Property (Himley View England & Waies
Cudley) Limided No 0B358398 Dormant VRS 2ZX 100 00
Amenity Property {(Hugesleah Place  England & Wales
Hightey) Linwted N¢ 09792989 Dormant WRS 2ZX 100 00
Amenity Property (Levett Grange England & Wales
Rugeley} Limited No 07839525 Dormant WRS 22X 100 00
Amenity Property (Lockside Walk England & Wales
Briariey Hil) Limited No 09043198 Dormant WRS5 272X 10009
Amenity Property (Mellent Gardens England & Wales
Bedworthy Limded No 12693871 Dormant WR5 22X 10000
Amemty Property [Milbrook Park £ngiand & Waies
Londan Phase 4A) Limited No 10385756 Darmant WRS 22X 100 00
Amenity Property (Milbrock Park England & Wales
London Phase 4C) Limited No 11824467 Dormant WRS 2ZX 100 08
Amenity Property (Millers Reach England & Wales
Stone) Limited No 05245116 Dormant WRE 27X 100 00
Amenity Pragerty (Qaklewgh Grove Engiand & Wales
Wheistone; Limited No 10704287 Cormant WRS 27X 10000
Amaenity Property (Peanywell Walk Engtand & Wales
Upton Upon Severn) Limited No 10030643 Dormant WRS 22X 100 00
Amenity Property (Postmark London)  England & Wales
Limited No 12002088 Dormant WRS5 2ZX 100 a0
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Subsidiaries {continued)

Name of undertaking and country of incorporation or

residency

Amenity Property (Preedy Place
Bagsey! Limited

Amenity Property (Priory Gardens
Markel Drayton} Limied

Amenty Property {Saddlers
Brook Walsall} Limited

Amenity Property [Scartett Oaks
Shifnal) Limited

Amarty Property (Shedord
Plymouth Parcel 8) Limited
Amanity Property (Sherdord
Plymouth Parcel F) Limited

Amenity Property (Shesford
Ptymautn Parcet G) Limited
Amenity Property (Sherford
Piymouth Parcel J4 Limrted
Amentty Preperty {Sherford
Plyrmouth Parcai L) Limitad
Amenity Property (Sherford
Plymoutn Parcel M) Limited
Ameruty Property (Sherard
Plymouth Parcel 3) Limded
Amanity Property {The
Hathaways Stratford; Limited
Amenity Property {Themas
Beddoes Court Shifnal) Limited
Amanity Property (Aalmley Croft
Sutton Coldfield) Limited
Amenuty Properly (Woodland
View Coventry) Limited

Amerity Propesrty Hotdings
Limited

Baker Sinclar bimied

Batfour Homes Managament
Liruted

Braok Farm Court Management
Lirruted

Cavendish Managemeant
{(Norwich) Lirmited

CE Antnony Nolan (Fairstead)
Limitect

CE Blenhesm Grange Watton
Limited

CE Churchill Gardens
Cambourne Limited

CE Cobbler's Mews Romany
Road Limited

CE Lack Ml Blackburn Limitad

CE Cakfield Gardens Hyde
Limited

England & Wales No
09135288
England & Wales NG
07639333
£ngland & Wales No
07639422
Englandg & Wales No
10800315
England & Wates No
10835831
England & Wales No
10839376
England & Wales No
10535172
England & Wales No
11454309
Ergland & Wales No
11454877
England & Wales No
11923138
f£ngland & Wales No
10535332
Engiland & wWales No
(09361834
Englard & Wales No
07639356
England & Wales No
10147213
Engiand & Wales No
07639359
England & wWaies No
07833509
England & Waies No
10306297
Engiand & Vvales No
01966825
Englanc & Waies No
02268738
Englard & Wales No
01831847
England & Wales No
06354199
England & Wales No
06067570
England & Wales No
06453105
Engiand & Wales No
08023591
England & Wales No
Q6345823
England & Wales No
06406664

Nature of business

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Gorrmant

Dormant

Dormant

Carmant

Cormant

Dormant

Donmant

Gonsant

Darmant

Dormant

Dermant

Dormant

Dormant

Non-trading

Oarmant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Darmant

Dormant

Dormant

Registered
Postcode
Direct

WRS 22X
WRS 27X
YWR5 27X
WRS 2ZX
WRS 22X
WRS 22X
WRS 272X
WRS 22X
WRS 22X
WRS 27X
WRS 22X
WRS 22X
WRS 22X
WRS 22X
WRS 27X
WRS 22X
SG40RY
BH25 5NR
BH25 5NR
BH25 5NR
SG99IRU
S8 6RY
5G9 GRY
SGa oRU
SG9 aRU

SGICRY

indirect

100 00

100 00

10000

10000

100 Q0

100 00

10000

100 Q0

100 0C

100 00

10000

160 00

100 00

10000

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 0¢

10000

1C0 00

10000

100 00

100 00

10000

100 0C
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Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of undertaking and country of incorporation  Nature of business

or residency

CE Poppy Fields
{Benwick) Limited
CE The Hawlhoms
Blackley Limited

CE Wiliow Grange Ely
Limited

Chamon Eslates
Developments bimded

Chamonix Estates Limited

Chamonix Group Limited

Chamaomix Holdings
Lirted

Consart Property
Management Limited

Dnve Bideo Limied

Orive Midco Limited

Edgewoed Management

Services Limited

Edgewood Ratremant
Developments Limitec

Farfield Company
Secretanes Limited

Ferndale Retirement
Management Limited

FrrstPort Bespoke

Froperty Services Limited

FirstPort HMF Limited

FirsiPort insurance
Services Linited

FirstPort Investment
Properties Limiled

FirstPort Limited

FestPort Qperaticns PO
Limiteg

FirstPart Property
Services Limied

FirsiPont Property
Services No 2 Limited

FirstPort Property
Services No 3 Limded

FirstPort Property
Services No 4 Limied

FirstPort Property
Services No § Limited

FirstPort Property

Services Scotland Lrimited

FirstPort Retrement
Lsmuted

England & Wales No
08353915
Englanc & Wales No
06443043

England & Wales Na
060672352
England & Wales No
10821470
England & Wales No
05851267

England & Wales No
05856372

Englang & Wales No
12500321
England & Wates No
03479620
England & Walas No
12043128
England & Wales No
12043082
England & Wales No
02948602
England & Wales No
02086525
England & Yvales No
05388785
Engiand & Waies No
01709679
kngland & Wales No
01523496
England & Wales No
C8776392
£ngland & Wales No
03479579
England & Wales No
04352383
England & Wales No
04352396
Engiand & Wales No
06277828
England & Wales No
02051041
England & ‘Wales No
02231168
England & Wales No
04352415
Englang & Vvales Mo
07299764
England & Wales No
85876880
Engfand & Wales dNo
03824468
England & \Wales No
03479623

Darmant

Dormant

Dormant
Cormant

Property Managament

Propery Management

Properly Management
Dormant

Provision of shared
sery-ces

Holding company
Non-trading
Negn-trading

Property Maragement
Oermant

Property managemsni
Investiment property
INSUFANCE SBEVICES
Dormant

Provision of shared
services

Investment property
Property management
Property management
Darmart

Propefty management
Property management
Property management

Dormant

Registered

Postcode

5G9 QRU

SG9 ORU

SG& ORU
SGS ORU

SG9 0RU

5G9 ORU

SG9 0RU

BH2S5 ENR

BH25 5NR

BHZ5 SNR

BH25 5NR

BH25 5NR

SG9 0RU

BH2S5 SNR

BH25 SNR

BH25 5NR

BH23 SNR

BH25 5NR

BHZ5 SNR

BH2S S5NR

BH25 SMNR

BH25 SNR

BH25 5NR

BH25 5NR

BHZ5 SMR

BHZ5 5NR

BH2S 5NR

% Held

Direct

100 00

lindirect

10099

100 00

100 00

10c 00

100 00

100 0¢

100 00

100 00

10000

100 00

10000

10000

QG 00

100 0

10000

190 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 20

10000

100 00

100 00

100 GO

100 00

100 00
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35  Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of undertaking and country of incorporation  Nature of business

ar residency

FirstPort Retremant
Praperty Services Lirmted

FirstPort Secrelanal
Lsmited

FirstPort Services Limited

Ground Rent Services
Limgted

King Gearge Caurt
Managerment Lunped

Knight Midco Limted

Kmght Square Holdings
Lrmuted

Knight Square Limied

Langhurst Dowve
Management Company
Limitad

Maclaren Management
Services Limiteq

Mainstay (Secretanes)
Limied

Mamnstay Faciities
Managerment Limiteg

Mainstay Group Limited

Mainstay Payments
Limsted

Mainstay Residennal
Limited

Matterdale Gargens
Management Limiled

Maybeck Collectons
Lirmited

Maridsan Homes Linnted

Mendan New Homes
Limited

Menidian Property Group
Livited

Merndian Retirement
Homes Limited

Meridian Retrement
Housing Services Limied

Mint Property
Managerment Liputed

MRML Limuted

OM Nominge Services
Limited

OM Proparty Management
Limied

England & Wales ho
01614866
England & Wales No
05806647
England & Wales No
09142979
England & Waies No
03804654
Engtand & Wales No
03175135
England & Wates No
67927619
Englandg & Wales No
07925023
Engiand & Wales No
07925019

Engiand & Wales No
11416290
England & Wales No
02142118
England & Wales No
04458813
England & Wales No
03340210
England & Wales No
04002715
Engiand & Wales No
04771082
England & VWales No
04052477
England & ¥vales Mo
02405973
England & Wales No
04052424
England & VWales Na
01972727
England & Wales No
02682974
England & Wales No
02306958
England & Wales No
(11885186
England & Wales No
01833177
England & Wales No
05643630
England & Watles No
03804173
England & Wa'es No
DB6O%BT!
England & Wales No
02143096

Property management
Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Non-trading

Halding company
Holding company

Provision of shared
sSenVICes

Darmant

Dormant

Darmant

Propety Management
Property Management
Dormant

Property Managament
Non-trading

Dormant

Dormant

Oormant

Non-trading

Dormant

Dorinam

Non-trading

Dormant

Dormanl

Darmant

Registered % Held
Postcode
Direct tndirect

BH25 SNR 100 00
BH25 5NR 160 00
BH25 5NR 100 00
SGI ORU 100 00
BHZ5 SNR 160 00
BH25 5NR 109 6o
BH25 SNR 10 00
BH25 5NR 10000
SG% ORU 100 20
BH23 SNR 100 00
WRE 22X 100 00
WRS 27X 100 Qa
WRS 272X 100 060
WRS5 27X 100 00
WRS 22X 100 00
BH25 SNR 100 00
WRS 22X 100 00
BH25 &NR 100 00
BH25 SNR 100 00
BH25 5NR 100 G0
BH25 SNR 10060
BH25 SNR 160 00
BHZ5 5NR 100 60
WRS 22X 100 06
BH25 5MR 100 00
BH25 SNR 100 Q0
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Subsidiaties {continuad)

Name of undertaking and country of incorporation  Nature of business

or residency

OM Property Management England & Wales No

Mo 2 Limited
Pegasus Court
(Abergavenny)
Mariagement Limited
Pegasus Court

{Barnwood) Management.

Limted

Pegasus Court (Bounon-

an-the-Water)

Pegasus Court (Broadway)

Management Limited
Pegasus Coun {Flaet)
Management Lirmited

Pegasus Court (Paignton)

Management Limited
Pegasus Coun
Cheltenham
(Management) Lirmited

Pegasus Court Harley

Wintney (Managemant)

Limited

Pagasus Court
Management Limited
Pegasus Thamesnorth
Management Limitad

Pembertons Manterance
Trustees {Aldford House}

Limited

Pembertons Rasidenta:

Limited

Peverel Butding
Technelogres Limited
Beverel Management
Services Limited

Peverel Property
Management Limited

Peverel Scotiand Limided

Peverel Services Limied

R € (Haldings) Limited

R C Hausing Limited

Renaissance Management

Services Limited

Renrement Care
{Southern) Limited

Retrement Care Group

Ltd

Retrement Care Limited

09375984

Engtand & Wales Mo
02285749

England & Wales »o
02311505
England & Wales No
02285752
England & Wales No
02392014
England & Wales No
02318677

England & Wates No
02332342

Engfand & Wales No
01867554

England & Vvales No
02129138

England & Wales No
02516629
England & Wales No
02636137

Engtand & Wales No
05151218

England & Wates No
09375969
England & Wales No
092218491
Engiand & Waies No
09142759
England & Wales No
9146176
England & Wales Ne
09345223
Engiand & Wales No
05146278
England & Wales No
02968054
England & Wales No
11012025
England & Wales No
03404510
England & Wales No
02486317
England & Wales No
02195300
England & Wales No
M706784

Dormant

Cormant

Dormant
Dormant
Darrnant

Dormant

Darmant

Darmant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Denmant

Darmant

Dormant

Dormant

BDormant

Dormant

Halding company

Proparty management

Non-trading

MNon-trading

investment property

Dormant

Registered
Postcode

BH25 5NR

BH25 5NR

BH25 5NR
BH~25 5NR
BH25 SNR

BH2S 5NR

BH25 MR

BH25 5MR

BH25 SNR

BH25 SMR

BH25 SNR

BHZ5 3NR
BH25 S5NR
BH25 SNR
BH25 5NR
BH25 SNR
BH25 5MR
8H23 5NR
BHZ5 SNR
BH25 5MR
5H25 5NR
BH25 5NR
8H25 5NR

BH25 SNR

Direct

% Held

Indirect

10000

100 00

100 00

10000

12060

100 00

160 00

100 00

100 00

10000

109G 00

100 00

100 G2

t00 90

100 00

100 ¢0

100 GO

100 00

100 00

100 00

100 00

160 00

100 00

100 00
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35  Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of undertaking and country of incarporation or Nature of business Registered % Held
residency Pastcode
Direct Indirect
England & Wales No
Retirement Homesearch Limuted 03829469 Specralist estale agent  BH25 5NR 100 00
Retrement Marketing Services  England & Wales No
Lemited 02196442 Dormant BH25 5NR 100 20
Sonala Insurance Services England & Wales No
Limited 06704179 Dormant BH25 5NR 100 90
England & Wales No
Stonedale (2012) Limited 06544398 Dormant B8H25 5SNR 100 00

The registercd address for subsidianas wilh the postcogde BH25 SNR s Queensway House 11 Queensway New Miion, Hampshire
UK BH2S 5NR

The registered address for subsimanes with the postcode WRS 22X s Whittinglen Hall  Whitkngton Road  Worcester
Worcestershre UK WRS 22X

The regsstered address for supsidianies with the pesteode 5G9 ORU 15 The Maitings, Hyde Hall Farm Sandon Hertfordshire. UK,
SGY ORU

All dormant compames are exempt frem prepaning indwviduat financial statements in accardance with s334A of Companes Act 2006
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a6 Notes to the cash flow statement

2020 2019

£'000 £'000
Operating loss for the year / peried (1.653) (2.238)
Adjusiments for.
Loss on disposal of tangible assets 55 .
Amortisation and impairment of intangibte assets 10.421 2920
Depreciation and impairment of tangible assets 1 848 855
Share-based payments 68 -
Movements i working capital
Decrease in debtors 859 1,861
Increase / (decrease) n creditors 652 {14.517)
Increase / (decrease) in provision 3 {209)
Cash generated / (used} in operations 12214 (11,528)

Inciuded in cash generated from cperations of £12 214k 1s cash outfiow relating 1o exceptional tems of
£3.718k {2019 £1,301Kk).

Analysis of changes in net debt.

At 1 At 31

January Non-cash December

2020 Cash flows Acquired changes 2020
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000

Cash at bank and n hand 4558 (6 641) 9 668 - 7.585
Bank loans {64,200} (33.500) - - (97,700)
Shareholder loans - principal (51.036) (10.399) - - (61.431)
Interest on shareholder loans (1.622) 5 - (5.604) (7.221)
Deferred financing costs 2843 1.867 - (564) 4 248
Finance leases 54 - - (54) -
(109.303) (48 664} 9.668 (8.222) {154,521}

in respect of the nen-cash changes. interest on shareholder loans were deferred at the Group's option.

The non-cash change of £564k for deferred financing costs relates to £588k of amarhisation offset by £24k
costto be paid n 2021.

The non-cash change of £54k for finance lease reiates to the final unwing of finances leases held in 2020,
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